

## UNIVERSIDADE D COIMBRA

José Manuel Nunes Carreira

## **IMPACT OF CHRONIC STRESS IN BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER:**

## FOCUS ON C3 COMPLEMENT PATHWAY AND SEX DIFFERENCES

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Neurociências Molecular e de Translação, orientada pela Doutora Ana Paula Pereira da Silva Martins e pela Doutora Filipa Isabel Cabaço Baptista, e apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra

Setembro de 2022

# Impact of chronic stress in blood-brain barrier: focus on C3 complement pathway and sex differences

José Manuel Nunes Carreira

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Neurociências Molecular e de Translação, orientada pela Doutora Ana Paula Pereira da Silva Martins e pela Doutora Filipa Isabel Cabaço Baptista, e apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra

Setembro de 2022



#### Support

This experimental work was conducted at the Institute of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, and Coimbra Institute for Clinical and Biomedical Research (iCBR), Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Portugal, under the supervision of Doctor Ana Paula Pereira da Silva Martins and Doctor Filipa Isabel Cabaço Baptista.

This work was financed through the BIAL Foundation, in the framework of the project entitled "Cerebrovascular hypothesis of stress-induced behavioral alterations", reference 073/2020; Portuguese National Funding Agency for Science and Technology (FCT) and Strategic Projects Portuguese National Funding Agency for Science and Technology (FCT) and Strategic Projects UIDB/04539/2020 and UIDP/04539/2020 (CIBB), and COMPETE-FEDER (POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007440); Centro 2020 Regional Operational Program: BRAINHEALTH 2020 (CENTRO-01-0145-FEDER-00008).



#### Agradecimentos

Esta dissertação marca o término de dois anos de muito esforço e dedicação, inseridos no meio de uma pandemia que obrigou a vários desafios e que me fizeram crescer tanto profissionalmente como pessoalmente. Foi um longo e árduo caminho, elaborado na companhia de várias pessoas incríveis e a quem eu agradeço nesta secção por terem contribuído, direta ou indiretamente, para o sucesso deste trabalho.

Primeiramente, quero agradecer às minhas orientadoras, uma vez que sem as quais este trabalho não teria sido possível. À Doutora Ana Paula Silva, pela confiança depositada ao me ter acolhido no seu grupo e pelo apoio e orientação ao longo deste percurso. À Doutora Filipa Baptista, por toda a aprendizagem desde o último ano da minha licenciatura e por toda a sua simpatia, disponibilidade e paciência para esclarecer as minhas dúvidas. Um sincero obrigado às duas por todos os valores e conhecimento científico que me transmitiram e por apelarem sempre ao meu sentido crítico.

Aos meus pais, Amália e José, por todo o apoio e preocupação ao longo do meu percurso académico. Por todas as oportunidades que me proporcionaram na vida, pelos sacrifícios e pela muita paciência.

À minha irmã, Catarina, pelos conselhos, boa disposição constante e prontidão em ajudar.

À minha restante família, por acreditarem em mim.

À minha namorada, Joana, por toda a compreensão e amor ao longo destes anos. Por me ouvir e apoiar em todos os momentos, principalmente nos de maior tristeza e frustração próprios desta travessia.

A todos os meus amigos, por toda a diversão e amizade. Ao grupo do "Rei Delas Todas", pelas gargalhadas, por me atuarem e pelos momentos inesquecíveis. Ao pessoal de Coimbra, pelos jantares e convívios, pelos desabafos e por serem pessoas que me acompanharão para o resto da vida, mesmo que por vezes distantes. À malta do "CS e do LoL", pelas horas de jogo acumuladas que serviram para "limpar a cabeça".

Ao Hugo e à Margarida, companheiros nesta etapa, obrigado por todas as conversas e momentos de descontração.

Ao Ricardo e à Eliane, obrigado pelo bom ambiente, dicas e paciência para responder às minhas questões no dia-a-dia de laboratório.

À Rita, pela colaboração e apoio crucial na realização de algumas experiências presentes nesta dissertação.

À Doutora Ana Cristina Rego, agradeço a oportunidade e o privilégio de ingressar num mestrado que me permitiu obter formação avançada nas áreas das Neurociências fundamentais e das Neurociências clínicas.

Muito obrigado a TODOS os que fazem parte da minha vida e por me ajudaram a superar este desafio.

"There must be a beginning of any great matter, but the continuing unto the end until it be thoroughly finished yields the true glory."

Francis Drake

## Table of contents

Agradecimentos	vi
_ist of figures	xiii
List of tables Abbreviations list Abstract	xiii
	xv
	xviii
Resumo	xx
Chapter I	23
I. Introduction	25
I.I Stress	25
I.I.I Overview	25
1.1.2 The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis in s	stress response 26
1.1.3 Chronic stress and neuropsychiatric disorders	
1.1.4 The effect of stress in the brain structure and function	
I.I.4.I The prefrontal cortex and stress	29
I.I.4.2 The hippocampus and stress	30
I.2. Blood-brain barrier	32
I.2.I Cellular components of the neurovascular unit	
I.2.I.I Endothelial cells	
I.2.I.I.I Tight junctions	
I.2.I.I.2 Adherens junctions	
I.2.I.2 Basement membrane	
I.2.I.3 Pericytes	
I.2.I.4 Astrocytes	
I.2.I.5 Microglia	
1.2.1.6 Neurons	
I.2.2 Transport across the blood-brain barrier	
I.2.3 BBB regulates immune cell trafficking into the CNS	39
1.2.4 Stress and the BBB	40
I.3 The complement system	40
I.3.I An overview	40
I.3.2 The classical pathway	42
I.3.3 The mannose-binding lectin (MBL) pathway	43

I.3.4 The alternative pathway4	43
I.3.5 Complement pathway and the BBB 4	43
I.4 Objectives	14
Chapter II	46
2. Materials and Methods	18
2.1 Animals	18
2.2 Unpredictable chronic mild stress (uCMS) 4	18
2.3 Behavioral tests	56
2.3.1 Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) Test5	56
2.3.2 Sucrose Preference Test (SPT) 5	57
2.3.3 Novel Object Recognition (NOR) 5	57
2.3.4 Forced Swimming Test (FST)5	58
2.4 Western Blot Analysis	59
2.5 Immunohistochemistry6	52
2.6 Quantification of corticosterone levels by ELISA Assay6	52
2.7 Quantification of complement C3 levels by ELISA Assay	53
2.8 Estrous cycle analysis6	53
2.9 Statistical analysis6	54
Chapter III	56
<b>3. Results</b>	58
3.1 Effect of uCMS on the circadian corticosterone levels in both sexes	58
3.2 uCMS impairs body weight gain in males, but not in females6	58
3.3 Behavioral alterations induced by uCMS6	59
3.4 Analysis of C3 and C3aR levels in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and serum	72
3.5 The impact of uCMS on BBB properties7	74
<b>3.6</b> Effect of uCMS in brain leukocyte recruitment	75
3.7 Astrocytic response triggered by uCMS	76
Chapter IV	79
4. Discussion	31
Chapter V	39
5. Conclusion and Future Perspectives9	<b>9</b> 1
References	<del>)</del> 4

## List of figures

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis.
Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of the Neurovascular Unit (NVU)
(BBB)
Figure 1.4. Transport across the blood-brain barrier (BBB)
Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the complement pathway42
Figure 2.1. Photographs representing three of the stressors used in the uCMS protocol
Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) Test56
Figure 2.3. Schematic representation of Sucrose Preference Test (SPT)57
Figure 2.4. Schematic representation of Novel Object Recognition (NOR)58
Figure 2.5. Schematic representation of Forced Swimming Test (FST)
Figure 3.1. uCMS does not promote a dysregulation of the circadian corticosterone
levels in both sexes
Figure 3.2. uCMS impairs body weight gain in males, but not in females
Figure 3.3. uCMS induces depressive-like behavior in males71
Figure 3.4. uCMS does not alter C3 and C3aR protein levels in the prefrontal cortex,
hippocampus, and serum73
<b>Figure 3.5.</b> uCMS leads to an increase in the claudin-5 protein levels of females exposed to uCMS
Figure 3.6. uCMS does not promote leukocyte recruitment into the brain76
Figure 3.7. uCMS does not alter astrocytic response

### List of tables

Table I. Schedule of chronic mild stressors administered for a 7-day period	and
repeated for 6 weeks	49
Table II. List of proteins identified by western blot analysis.	60
Table III. List of primary antibodies used in western blot analysis	61
Table IV. List of secondary antibodies used in western blot analysis.	61
Table V. Female rats estrous cycle determined at the end of EPM test	72

#### Abbreviations list

- ACTH Adrenocorticotropic hormone
- AMPA α-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate
- AMY Amygdala
- **ANOVA** Analysis of Variance
- **BBB** Blood-brain barrier
- BCA Bicinchoninic acid
- **BSA** Bovine serum albumin
- CA Cornu ammonis
- CAPS 3-(cyclohexylamino)-I-propanesulfonic acid
- **CNS** Central Nervous System
- **CRH** Corticotropin-releasing hormone
- DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- DG Dentate gyrus
- dHIP Dorsal hippocampus
- **DOC** Deoxycholate
- **DTT** Dithiothreitol
- ECF Enhanced chemofluorescent
- ECL Enhanced chemiluminescence
- ECs Endothelial cells
- EDTA Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
- EGTA Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- EPM Elevated plus maze
- **fB** Factor B
- **fD** Factor D
- GABA γ-aminobutyric acid
- GAPDH Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GCs Glucocorticoids
- **GFAP** Glial fibrillary acidic protein
- GLUT-I- Glucose transporter-I
- **GR** Glucocorticoid receptor

- HIP Hippocampus
- HPA Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
- HRP Horseradish peroxidase
- ICAM-I -Intercellular adhesion molecule-I
- **MAC** Membrane attack complex
- MASPs MBL-associated serine proteases
- **MBL** Mannose-binding lectin
- **MMPs** Matrix metalloproteinases
- mPFC Medial prefrontal cortex
- MR Mineralocorticoid receptor
- **NMDA** N-methyl-D-aspartate
- NOR Novel object recognition
- **NVU** Neurovascular unit
- **OFC** Orbitofrontal cortex
- **PBS** Phosphate buffered saline
- **PFA** Paraformaldehyde
- **PFC** Prefrontal cortex
- **PVDF** Polyvinylidene fluoride
- **PVN** Paraventricular nucleus
- **RIPA** Radio-immunoprecipitation assay
- **RT** Room temperature
- **SPT** Sucrose preference test
- **TBS** Tris-buffered saline
- uCMS Unpredictable chronic mild stress
- VCAM-I Vascular cell adhesion molecule-I
- **vHIP** Ventral hippocampus

#### Abstract

Chronic stress is a significant burden in our society, increasing the risk for the development of neuropsychiatric disorders. In fact, prolonged exposure to stress can contribute to the damage of multiple brain regions associated with emotional-cognitive functions, such as the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the hippocampus (HIP). Recent evidence has been shown that stress is linked with cerebrovascular diseases, particularly with blood-brain barrier (BBB) dysfunction. The BBB is a selective and dynamic barrier that regulates the bidirectional transport in/out the brain, including the trafficking of peripheral immune cells, microorganisms, and several compounds into the brain parenchyma. However, little is known about the mechanisms underlying stress-induced BBB disruption. Moreover, the complement pathway plays an important role in innate immunity, but its abnormal activation has been also associated with several Central Nervous System (CNS) pathologies. Taking into consideration the crucial role of the BBB on brain protection and homeostasis, the present study aimed to assess the possible involvement of BBB dysfunction in stress-induced behavioral alterations by investigating the neurovascular alterations induced by unpredictable chronic mild stress (uCMS) exposure for 6 weeks, with focus on the C3 complement pathway. Additionally, sexdependent alterations were also explored.

The present results demonstrated that uCMS impaired body weight gain in males, but not in females. However, the results suggest that uCMS did not induce an imbalance in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity in both sexes. In terms of behavior, uCMS induced depressive-like behavior in males, while females did not display any behavioral alterations. Following uCMS, C3 protein levels in the PFC, HIP, and serum were not altered in both sexes. Similarly, no significant changes in the C3aR protein levels in the PFC and HIP were found, although a tendency to decrease was detected in the PFC of males exposed to uCMS. Regarding BBB properties, no significant alterations were observed in the PFC of males after uCMS. Curiously, exposure to uCMS was associated with an increase in claudin-5 protein levels in the PFC of females. Furthermore, astrocytic reactivity was not altered in the PFC of both sexes a result of uCMS exposure. In sum, the results obtained in this work revealed that males and females are differently affected by chronic mild stress: males are more affected at the behavior level, while females cope better and eventually develop a stress-resilient phenotype. Furthermore, the results suggest that uCMS has no major effects on BBB properties, but future studies are needed to clarify other possible brain vascular alterations induced by uCMS.

**Keywords:** chronic stress; blood-brain barrier; C3 complement pathway; sex differences

#### Resumo

O stress crónico tem um impacto significativo na nossa sociedade, aumentando o risco para o desenvolvimento de distúrbios neuropsiquiátricos. A exposição prolongada a stress pode contribuir para danos em múltiplas regiões cerebrais associadas a funções emocionais e cognitivas, como o córtex pré-frontal (CPF) e o hipocampo (HIP). Evidências recentes têm demostrado que o stress está associado a doenças cerebrovasculares, podendo ocorrer a disfunção da barreira hematoencefálica (BHE). A BHE é uma barreira seletiva e dinâmica que regula o transporte bidirecional para dentro/fora do cérebro, incluindo o tráfico de células imunitárias periféricas, microrganismos e vários compostos no parênquima cerebral. No entanto, pouco se sabe sobre os mecanismos subjacentes à perturbação da BHE induzida pelo stress. Além disso, a via do complemento desempenha um papel importante na imunidade inata, tendo a sua ativação anormal sido associada a várias patologias do Sistema Nervoso Central (SNS). Considerando o papel crucial da BHE na proteção do cérebro e na sua homeostase, o presente estudo teve como objetivo avaliar o possível envolvimento da disfunção da BHE em alterações comportamentais induzidas pelo stress, investigando possíveis alterações neurovasculares induzidas pela exposição a stress crónico moderado e imprevisível (uCMS) durante 6 semanas, com foco na via do complemento C3. Adicionalmente, foram também exploradas alterações dependentes do sexo.

Os resultados atuais demonstraram que o uCMS afetou o aumento do peso corporal nos machos, mas não nas fêmeas. No entanto, os resultados sugerem que o uCMS não induziu um desequilíbrio na atividade do eixo hipotálamo-pituitária-adrenal (HPA) em ambos os sexos. Em termos de comportamento, o uCMS induziu um comportamento do tipo depressivo em machos, enquanto as fêmeas não apresentaram alterações comportamentais. Após o uCMS, os níveis da proteína C3 no CPF, HIP e soro não se encontravam alterados em ambos os sexos. Da mesma forma, não foram detetadas alterações significativas nos níveis da proteína C3aR no CPF e HIP, embora tenha sido detetada uma tendência para a sua diminuição no CPF dos machos expostos a uCMS. No que diz respeito às propriedades da BHE, não foram observadas alterações significativas no cPF dos machos após o uCMS. Curiosamente, a exposição ao uCMS foi associada a um aumento dos níveis da proteína claudin-5 no CPF das fêmeas. Além disso, a exposição a uCMS não induziu reatividade astrocítica no CPF de ambos os sexos. Em

suma, os resultados obtidos neste trabalho revelaram que os machos e as fêmeas são diferentemente afetados pelo stress crónico moderado e imprevisível: os machos são mais afetados a nível comportamental, enquanto as fêmeas lidam melhor com o stress e eventualmente desenvolvem um fenótipo resiliente. Além disso, os resultados sugerem que o uCMS não tem efeitos significativos nas propriedades da BHE. No seguimento deste trabalho, estudos futuros são necessários para esclarecer outras possíveis alterações vasculares cerebrais induzidas pelo uCMS.

**Palavras-chave:** stress crónico; barreira hematoencefálica; via do complemento C3; diferenças de sexo

## Chapter I

Introduction

#### I. Introduction

#### I.I Stress

#### I.I.I Overview

The origin of stress research dated of 1936 when the endocrinologist Hans Selye in a short letter to *Nature* described for the first time, "A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents", based on his early experiments with rats. The author observed that after injecting rats with sublethal doses of distinct drugs (adrenaline, atropine, morphine, formaldehyde, among others), or exposing them to cold, surgical injury, excessive muscular exercise or production of spinal shock, animals presented a typical syndrome that included gastric ulcerations, enlargement of the adrenal gland, and atrophy of the thymus, spleen and other lymphoid tissue (Selye, 1936). Moreover, this syndrome was divided into three stages: a first one that consisted in an alarm reaction, followed by a period of resistance and a final stage of exhaustion (Perdrizet, 1997; Selye, 1936). Considering his findings, Selye developed the concept of "general adaptation syndrome", which is known today as stress response (Szabo et al., 2012, 2017).

Stress is presently defined as a state of any real or perceived threat to brain homeostasis or well-being (Chrousos, 2009; Herman, 2013; Smith & Vale, 2006). In addition, numerous systems, including the endocrine, autonomic, behavioral and immune system, are activated to promote a coordinated stress response and to reestablish brain homeostasis (Herman, 2013; Lucassen et al., 2014). A stress response can be triggered by exposure to distinct stressors (e.g., making an oral presentation, living in poverty or in a broken family, the loss of a loved one, bereavement), which can be distinguished by its duration, intensity, predictability, controllability, and individual susceptibility (Lucassen et al., 2014; Sousa, 2016). Therefore, stress is not a single entity and multiple types of stress can be differentiated: stress can be acute or chronic, anticipated, unpredictable or uncontrollable, mild or severe, and occur in or out of a specific context (Lucassen et al., 2014). Moreover, the perception of an event as stressful is variable between individuals and can have important outcomes depending on their level of stress, resilience or vulnerability (Franklin et al., 2012).

# 1.1.2 The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis in stress response

The stress response is coordinated by different systems, with the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Figure 1.1) being the primary hormonal response to a homeostatic challenge (Myers et al., 2012). The activated HPA axis regulates peripheral functions, including metabolism and immunity, but also impacts on the brain (Pariante & Lightman, 2008). Under stress conditions, neurons in the medial parvocellular region of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus release corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and arginine vasopressin (Vyas et al., 2016). In turn, CRH elicits anterior pituitary gland secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which leads to the release of ACTH into the bloodstream (Hill & Tasker, 2012). Then, ACTH stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids (GCs) (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents) by the cortex of the adrenal glands (de Kloet et al., 2005; Kudielka & Kirschbaum, 2005). GCs are the major stress hormones and regulate metabolic, immune, cardiovascular, and nervous systems (de Kloet et al., 1998; Sapolsky et al., 2000). Additionally, GCs can cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) due to their liposoluble properties and bind to two types of GC receptors: the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR or Type I) and the glucocorticoid receptor (GR or Type II) (Marin et al., 2011). MRs are mainly found in the hippocampus and septal neurons, but also in cortical neurons (Sousa et al., 2008), while GRs are ubiquitously expressed throughout the brain (Reul & de Kloet, 1985; Weinstock, 2008). MRs have a 10-fold higher affinity to endogenous GCs, which results in a basal activation of these receptors, whereas GRs are only activated when GCs levels increase either by stress or during the circadian peak of GC secretion (de Kloet et al., 1998; Reul & de Kloet, 1985). Moreover, both MRs and GRs act on the brain as transcriptional factors, regulating the expression of distinct genes (Myers et al., 2012).

The activity of the HPA axis is controlled by negative feedback mechanism, whereby GCs act in the pituitary and in the hypothalamus to inhibit their own secretion and prevent harmful effects to the brain resulting from chronic exposure to high levels of GCs (Herman et al., 2016; Marin et al., 2011). The HPA axis follows a circadian rhythm, characterized by secretion peak levels of GCs during the active phase (daytime in humans, nighttime in rodents), returning then rapidly to their basal levels (Spiga et al.,

2014). Importantly, disruption of HPA axis circadian rhythmicity is often associated with changes in stress resilience, which can increase the susceptibility to neuropsychiatric disorders (Rao & Androulakis, 2019; Walker et al., 2020).



**Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis.** Stress promotes the release of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) from the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). Then, CRH induces the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) by the anterior pituitary gland, followed by its release into the blood circulation and stimulation of glucocorticoids (GCs) (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents) from the adrenal gland. In turn, GCs will stimulate brain glucocorticoid (GR) and mineralocorticoid (MR) receptors. After, GCs act through a negative feedback mechanism to prevent the continuous secretion of GCs and to regulate HPA axis activity. Image created with BioRender.com

#### 1.1.3 Chronic stress and neuropsychiatric disorders

Although stress triggers adjustments of multiple biological systems and promotes adaptation of the organism to different challenges (allostasis), overactivation of the allostatic systems (allostatic load) can lead to maladaptive responses and impact both physical and mental health (McEwen, 2017; McEwen & Gianaros, 2011). Additionally, chronic stress can cause an imbalance of the neural circuits involved in decision making, cognition, anxiety and mood that can lead to behavioral repercussions (McEwen, 2017). Therefore, stress is able to increase susceptibility to the development of various neuropsychiatric disorders (Hall et al., 2015; Sanacora et al., 2022), that have become prevalent worldwide (Bale, 2005) and represent a significant economical and health issue in our society (Lucassen et al., 2014; Pêgo et al., 2010). According to the World Health Organization (2019), 1 in every 8 people, or 970 million people globally are estimated to suffer from a mental disorder, with depressive and anxiety disorders as the most common. Additionally, in the last 2 years due to COVID-19 pandemic these numbers highly increased among all population with a particular incidence in children and adolescents. Interestingly, there are also sex differences in stress prevalence and response in stress-related disorders (Bangasser & Valentino, 2014; Bekhbat & Neigh, 2018). For instance, two-thirds of patients with stress-related disorders are women, but over two-thirds of suicide completers are men (Brivio et al., 2020).

#### 1.1.4 The effect of stress in the brain structure and function

The brain is a key organ involved in stress response and determines the physiological and behavioral response to a stressor. Brain cortico-limbic and hypothalamic structures including prefrontal cortex (PFC), anterior cingulate, amygdala (AMY), insula, hippocampus (HIP), and striatum are highly interconnected and sensitive to stress, making them the main targets of stress hormones and mediators (Bottaccioli et al., 2019; McLaughlin et al., 2009). Therefore, chronic exposure to stress has a significant impact on cellular integrity and function of these brain areas, particularly in dendritic and synaptic reorganization, and glial remodeling (Sanacora et al., 2022; Sousa & Almeida, 2012). In the next subsections, the impact of chronic stress in the PFC and HIP will be detailed.

#### 1.1.4.1 The prefrontal cortex and stress

The PFC is anatomically and functionally divided into two main subregions: the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) (Wellman et al., 2020). The mPFC includes the AC, prelimbic and infralimbic cortex, that corresponds to the human dorsolateral and medial PFC (Cerqueira et al., 2008; Jacobs & Moghaddam, 2021), whereas the OFC comprises the ventral and lateral regions that are homologous to primate orbitofrontal cortex (Dalley et al., 2004; Wellman et al., 2020). The PFC has an important role in cognitive control, working memory, executive function and self-regulatory behaviors (McEwen & Morrison, 2013; Radley et al., 2015). Additionally, the PFC plays a crucial role in modulating endocrine and autonomic functions during the stress response (Cerqueira et al., 2008; Czéh et al., 2008). Considering that PFC regulates a variety of cognitive and homeostatic functions, the impact of chronic stress on PFC structure and function, and its possible influence in stress-related disorders has received increasing attention from the neuroscience community in recent years (Radley et al., 2015). Moreover, it is important to note that most of the studies focus on the mPFC (McEwen & Morrison, 2013).

Chronic stress induces neuroplastic changes in the mPFC including dendritic retraction (Cook & Wellman, 2004; Liston et al., 2006; Radley et al., 2004), spine loss and altered synaptic transmission (Goldwater et al., 2009; Woo et al., 2021) in the pyramidal neurons (layer II/III and layer V). These alterations are associated with impairments in working memory and behavioral flexibility (Cerqueira et al., 2007) and in the recall of fear conditioning and extinction (Miracle et al., 2006). Furthermore, other studies also reported dendritic alterations in the mPFC due to acute stress exposure (Brown et al., 2005; Izquierdo et al., 2006). Curiously, these effects are described to be reversible when stress exposure is terminated (Radley & Morrison, 2005). Changes in neuronal morphology and function as a result of chronic stress are also accompanied by significant alterations in the PFC glutamatergic system (Wellman et al., 2020). For instance, chronic stress impairs  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate (AMPA)- and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-mediated synaptic transmission and cell surface expression in mPFC (Yuen et al., 2012), reduces NMDA and AMPA currents and alters the activity of y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) interneurons, which inhibit pyramidal neurons (Jacobs & Moghaddam, 2021). Notably, these stress-induced

effects were only described in males, since females were not evaluated in these studies. In fact, chronic stress impacts mPFC in a sex-dependent manner, differentially remodeling neuronal morphology and influencing behavior (Wellman et al., 2018). Accordingly, male rats present a decrease in dendritic arbors following chronic stress exposure, whereas female rats either show no dendritic changes (Moench & Wellman, 2017) or dendritic hypertrophy (Garrett & Wellman, 2009). Moreover, chronic stress leads to deficits in behaviors that involve activation of PFC, including working memory, attentional set-shifting and cognitive flexibility in male rats (Holmes & Wellman, 2009), while female rats do not exhibit these stress-induced alterations (Wei et al., 2014). Glial morphology is also affected by chronic stress in a sex-specific manner. Since astrocytes are essential for the correct functioning of synaptic connectivity, synaptogenesis, and maintenance of synaptic function (Codeluppi et al., 2021), alterations in the morphology of astrocytes can impair their activity. Chronic stress causes PFC astrocytic atrophy in male rats (Codeluppi et al., 2021; Tynan et al., 2013) and hypertrophy in female rats (Bollinger et al., 2019). Moreover, in male rats, chronic stress increases microglial density and activation, which is demonstrated in the morphology and expression of immune molecules in PFC (Walker et al., 2013). Specifically, chronic stress results in an increase of Iba-1 immunoreactivity (Tynan et al., 2010) and microglial branching, process number and length in this brain region (Hinwood et al., 2013) In addition, these alterations in microglial activation were associated with deficits in spatial working memory (Hinwood et al., 2012; Hinwood et al., 2013). However, these stress-induced changes in male microglia reactivity were not reproduced in a more recent study (Bollinger et al., 2016). On the other hand, stress exposure decreased female microglia processes ramification, suggesting a reduced activated state (Bollinger et al., 2016).

#### 1.1.4.2 The hippocampus and stress

The HIP is a brain region located at the medial temporal lobe and responsible for cognitive function and emotional processing (Fanselow & Dong, 2010; Strange et al., 2014). It includes the cornu ammonis (CA) fields (CA1, CA2 and CA3), the dentate gyrus (DG), the subiculum, presubiculum and parasubiculum fields, and the entorhinal cortex (Hartley et al., 2014). The HIP extends along a dorsal (septal) to ventral (temporal) axis in rodents, which corresponds to a posterior-anterior axis in humans

(Strange et al., 2014). Moreover, the dorsal and ventral subregions are associated with distinct behaviors. The dorsal hippocampus (dHIP) is involved with cognitive functions, whereas the ventral hippocampus (vHIP) is related to stress, emotion, and affection (Fanselow & Dong, 2010). The HIP is involved in the regulation of stress response, since it encodes environmental contextual information related to the perceived threat (Herman et al., 2005), and is involved in the inhibition of the HPA axis (Herman et al., 1995; Jacobson & Sapolsky, 1991). Lesions experiments in the HIP produce elevated levels of GCs in basal conditions, further suggesting that the HIP is a key brain region in the regulation of the HPA axis (Herman et al., 2016).

The HIP is a particularly sensitive and vulnerable brain structure to damage by repeated stress (Sapolsky, 1992). Accordingly, chronic stress causes alterations in neuronal morphology, including atrophy of dendrites on CA3 (Bessa et al., 2009; Magariños et al., 1997; Stewart et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 1992) and CAI pyramidal neurons (Sousa et al., 2000). These stress-induced changes are usually associated with deficits in hippocampal-dependent learning tasks (Conrad, 2010). Curiously, more recent data showed that chronic stress affects differently the morphology of hippocampal neurons. Accordingly, chronic stress induces a dendritic retraction of CA3 and CA1 pyramidal neurons in dHIP, while in the vHIP, pyramidal neurons exhibited a neuronal hypertrophy in CA3 region (Pinto et al., 2015). Moreover, chronic stress exposure produces impairments in long-term potentiation in DG (Shors & Dryver, 1994) and CA3 region of the HIP (Pavlides et al., 2002). Importantly, these alterations in neuronal morphology are correlated with the decreased hippocampal volume observed in depressed patients (McKinnon et al., 2009; Videbech & Ravnkilde, 2004) and in rats exposed to chronic stress (Schoenfeld et al., 2017). Similar to the PFC, stress also impacts hippocampal neurons morphology in a sex-specific manner. Exposure to chronic stress fails to cause CA3 dendritic retraction in females (Galea et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2006), as well as to impair hippocampal dependent memory (Luine et al., 2007). At glial level and specifically astrocytes, chronic stress reduced glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) mRNA expression and protein levels in male rats (Araya-Callís et al., 2012). Moreover, in females, early life stress decreased the astrocytic population in the CA3 (Saavedra et al., 2021). Regarding microglial cells, no differences were observed in males following chronic stress exposure, while females presented an increase of the total number and length of microglia processes (Gaspar et al., 2021).

#### I.2. Blood-brain barrier

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) is a selective and dynamic structure that acts as a interface between the Central Nervous System (CNS) and the periphery (Campos-Bedolla et al., 2014; Cardoso et al., 2010). The BBB plays an essential role in the maintenance of the homeostasis of the CNS through the regulation of ion balance and brain nutrition, as well as in the protection of the neural tissue from toxins, pathogens, and immune cells (Abbott et al., 2010; Keaney & Campbell, 2015). In opposition, the specific properties of the BBB are a major obstacle for drug delivery to the brain, since almost 98% of small molecules and 100% of large molecules are not able to cross the BBB (Pardridge, 2003). The BBB is composed by endothelial cells (ECs) that are surrounded by basement membrane, pericytes, neurons, astrocytes, and microglia, which altogether compose the neurovascular unit (NVU) (Figure 1.2) (Daneman & Prat, 2015; Serlin et al., 2015). As a result, any impairment of BBB components may result in the loss of barrier integrity and function, which could promote the entry of pathogens, toxins, or/and autoantibodies into the brain significantly affecting its normal function and originating several diseases (Obermeier et al., 2016).



**Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of the Neurovascular Unit (NVU).** The NVU is composed by endothelial cells, basement membrane, pericytes, astrocytes, microglia, and neurons, that together provide unique features to the blood-brain barrier (BBB). Pericytes are distributed along the microvessel endothelium. Both brain endothelial cells and pericytes are enclosed by basement membrane, and astrocyte endfeet surround the capillaries. Neurons innervate brain vasculature and can induce vessels to adjust their tone based on incoming neuronal afferent signals. Microglial cells are the immunosurveillance cells of the brain that also contribute to barrier properties.

#### 1.2.1 Cellular components of the neurovascular unit

#### I.2.I.I Endothelial cells

The brain ECs are considered the core component of the BBB and form the inner layer of brain capillaries (Wilhelm et al., 2011). Additionally, these cells have unique characteristics that differentiate them from other ECs, including a higher number and volume of mitochondria (required for energy demands and transport of nutrients), presence of multiple and selective transporters (allowing the exchange of molecules between the brain and the periphery), and absence of fenestrations (limiting the transendothelial transit of fluid and small solutes) and low pinocytosis/transcytosis activity (preventing movement of molecules through cells- transcellular flux) (Cardoso et al., 2010; ladecola, 2004; Obermeier et al., 2016; Persidsky et al., 2006). Furthermore, ECs are also characterized by a high transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER), which reflects BBB highly restricted permeability to ions and other molecules (Cardoso et al., 2010). ECs are held together by intercellular junctions, namely tight (TJs) and adherens junctions (AJs) (Figure 1.3), that are responsible to maintain barrier structure and properties (McConnell et al., 2017; Tietz & Engelhardt, 2015). Curiously, gap junctions have also been found at the BBB (Nagasawa et al., 2006), however their role in the barrier is not fully understood (Zlokovic, 2008).

#### I.2.I.I.I Tight junctions

Tight junctions (TJs) are composed by transmembrane proteins, including claudins, occludin and junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), and also by cytoplasmic accessory proteins, such as zonula occludens (ZO), cingulin, AF-6 and 7H6 (Benarroch, 2012; Persidsky et al., 2006; Serlin et al., 2015). The cytoplasmic accessory proteins are essential to link the transmembrane proteins to the actin cytoskeleton (Ballabh et al., 2004; Zlokovic, 2008). Moreover, TJs are responsible for the separation of the luminal and abluminal sides of the plasma membrane (Abbott et al., 2010; Cardoso et al., 2010), which contribute to the polarization of the cell (Wilhelm et al., 2011), and to limit the paracellular permeability between the ECs to ions and other polar solutes, leading to a high TEER of the BBB (Bazzoni & Dejana, 2004; Butt et al., 1990).

#### a. Claudins

Claudins are a family of four-transmembrane domain proteins that comprises 27 members identified so far, and with a molecular weight around 20-34 kDa (Gonçalves et al., 2013; Tsukita et al., 2019). These proteins are the main components of TJs (Kadry et al., 2020) and are indispensable both for the formation of TJs and to regulate the paracellular permeability (Gonçalves et al., 2013; Tsukita et al., 2019). Moreover, claudin-1, -3, and -5 are the most abundant at brain endothelium (Gonçalves et al., 2013). Curiously, claudin-5 seems to have a crucial role in the maintenance of a normal BBB function, since knockout animals exhibited a compromised BBB and die shortly after birth (Nitta et al., 2003). Additionally, BBB dysfunction due to the loss of claudin-3 has also been noticed in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and human glioblastoma (Wolburg et al., 2003).

#### b. Occludin

Occludin is a 65 kDa phosphoprotein, with four transmembrane domains and two extracellular loops (Ballabh et al., 2004; Kadry et al., 2020). Occludin was the first transmembrane TJ protein identified (Furuse et al., 1993) and it is highly expressed in brain ECs compared to nonneural tissues, (Hirase et al., 1997; Vorbrodt & Dobrogowska, 2003). Moreover, high levels of occludin contribute to a decrease in paracellular permeability (Huber et al., 2001) and high electrical resistance of ECs monolayers (McCarthy et al., 1996). Although occludin plays an important role in barrier structure and function (Brown & Davis, 2005; Huber et al., 2002), it is not vital for TJs formation (Hawkins & Davis, 2005). In fact, occludin-deficient animals did not present morphological alterations in TJs, but only impairments in development and breeding (Saitou et al., 2000). Interestingly, the absence of occludin can be compensated by other junctional proteins (Zlokovic, 2008). Therefore, occludin acts more in a regulatory context than as a key protein to maintain BBB properties, since it is responsible for the connection to the actin cytoskeleton through ZO proteins (Wolburg & Lippoldt, 2002).

#### I.2.I.I.2 Adherens junctions

The adherens junctions (AJs) are localized in the basal region of lateral plasma membrane, more close to the abluminal side of ECs (Petty & Lo, 2002) and mediate cell-

cell adhesion in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner, contact inhibition, paracellular permeability and cell polarity (Hawkins & Davis, 2005; Kadry et al., 2020). These junctions are formed by the membrane protein cadherin, particularly vascular endothelial (VE-) cadherin and neural (N-) cadherin, which are the most prevalent cadherins in brain microvessels and in the brain tissue, respectively (Vorbrodt & Dobrogowska, 2003). Nevertheless, Ncadherin is also present on other cell types, including vascular smooth muscle cells, and myocytes (Navarro et al., 1998). Furthermore, cadherins are connected to the actin cytoskeleton through a group of proteins named catenins (Cardoso et al., 2010). Catenins can be subdivided in four different types ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$ ), with  $\beta$ -catenin being crucial for vascular patterning (Vincent et al., 2004), and playing an essential role as transcription factor, as it modulates several genes (Vorbrodt et al., 2008).

#### I.2.I.2 Basement membrane

The basement membrane is mainly responsible for anchoring ECs and pericytes, and to connect these cells with other brain neighbor cells (Carvey et al., 2009). It is composed by structural proteins (collagen IV and elastin), specialized proteins (laminin and fibronectin), heparin sulfate proteoglycans and other extracellular matrix proteins (Cardoso et al., 2010; Serlin et al., 2015). The basement membrane also contains cell adhesion molecules, as well as signaling proteins, which form a complex and extensive matrix (Carvey et al., 2009). Disruption of the basement membrane can promote changes in the ECs cytoskeleton, which in turn impacts TJs and barrier properties (Cardoso et al., 2010). In fact, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are strongly associated with the degradation of the basement membrane, leading to the infiltration of leukocytes and other peripheral cells in the brain parenchyma as observed in several pathological conditions (Daneman & Prat, 2015).

#### I.2.I.3 Pericytes

Pericytes are vascular mural cells directly found on the abluminal side of the endothelium and that are embedded in the basement membrane (Daneman & Prat, 2015; Knox et al., 2022). These cells cover between 22% and 32% of brain capillaries (Fisher, 2009; Kim et al., 2006), and have contractile proteins that allow them to regulate the

capillary diameter and the cerebral blood flow (Cardoso et al., 2010; Hall et al., 2014). Moreover, pericytes are able to communicate with ECs by peg-socket junctions, gap junctions, and adhesion plaque junctions (Armulik et al., 2011). Additionally, pericytes are responsible to produce multiple components of the basement membrane, such as proteoglycans, that are thought to be an essential step in BBB differentiation (Cardoso et al., 2010; Dore-Duffy et al., 2006). Importantly, the absence of pericytes results in endothelial hyperplasia and abnormal vascular morphogenesis in the brain, which emphasize the crucial role of these cells in BBB structure (Persidsky et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.1.4 Astrocytes

Astrocytes are glial cells that contribute to the maintenance of BBB integrity and function (Ballabh et al., 2004; Knox et al., 2022). These cells interact with ECs and pericytes by their highly specialized processes, called astrocytic endfeet (Herndon et al., 2017), and control metabolite levels, cerebral blood flow and vasodilation (Zlokovic, 2008). Moreover, astrocytes play an important role in the regulation of water and ion levels in brain parenchyma, since their endfeet express water channels named aquaporins, and potassium channels (Abbott et al., 2006). Astrocytes are also involved in the synthesis of basement membrane proteins such as proteoglycans, leading to an increase of charge selectivity in ECs (Cardoso et al., 2010). Curiously, there is some evidence that astrocytes can have a dual role in BBB properties. For instance, astrocytes can release multiple soluble factors that induce TJs formation (Alvarez et al., 2013) that are essential to barrier function (Abbott et al., 2006). On the other hand, upon insult, astrocytes can release MMPs (Rosenberg, 2002) and proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha, that promote BBB breakdown (Abbott et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.1.5 Microglia

Microglia are the resident immune cells in the brain, playing a crucial role in the regulation of brain development and homeostasis (Tay et al., 2017). Additionally, these highly ramified cells survey the local microenvironment for blood-borne substances and potential inflammatory agents, acting as the gatekeepers of the CNS (Cardoso et al., 2010; Dudvarski Stankovic et al., 2016), and influence the formation of neural circuits by
controlling synapse formation (Cristovão et al., 2014) and synapse elimination (Paolicelli et al., 2011). At the BBB, microglia are primarily found in the perivascular space and contribute to barrier properties (Choi & Kim, 2008; Thurgur & Pinteaux, 2019), however the mechanisms on how this occurs remain to be further elucidated (Keaney & Campbell, 2015; Ronaldson & Davis, 2020). Importantly, upon insult, microglia release inflammatory mediators as nitric oxide and interleukin-1β, that can lead to an increase in BBB permeability (Obermeier et al., 2013).

#### I.2.I.6 Neurons

Neurons are the fundamental units of the brain and CNS, however not much is known about the role of these cells in BBB structure (Cardoso et al., 2010). Neurons are not directly connected to brain ECs, and astrocytes modulate communication neurons and ECs (Kim et al., 2006; Liebner et al., 2018). In fact, ECs and astrocytes are innervated by noradrenergic, serotonergic, cholinergic, and GABAergic neurons, among others (Hawkins & Davis, 2005). Furthermore, neurons can regulate cerebral blood flow in response to metabolic demands, through the expression of enzymes unique for ECs (Persidsky et al., 2006).



Figure 1.3. Molecular organization of intercellular junctions at the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The intercellular junctions are formed by tight (TJs) and adherens junctions (AJs). The TJs are composed by transmembrane proteins, including claudins, occludin and junctional adhesion molecules

(JAMs), and cytoplasmic accessory proteins, such as zonula occludens (ZO), cingulin, among others, that are linked to the actin cytoskeleton within the cell. Adherens junctions are composed mainly by vascular endothelial (VE)–cadherin, which interacts with catenins that attach the adherens junctions to the actin cytoskeleton, and N-cadherin, the most abundant cadherin in the brain tissue. Astrocytes contain a higher density of orthogonal arrays of particles (OAPs), that are formed by water channels named aquaporins (adapted from Kadry et al., 2020).

#### 1.2.2 Transport across the blood-brain barrier

ECs are crucial elements to regulate the transport through the BBB (Figure 1.4). This transport across the BBB is ensured by two main routes, the paracellular pathway that takes place between adjacent ECs, and the transcellular pathway that occur through the ECs (Pardridge, 1999). The paracellular pathway consists of a passive diffusion of ions and low molecular weight solutes according to their concentration gradient (Haseloff et al., 2015; Petty & Lo, 2002). On the other hand, the transcellular pathway is mediated by different processes, including passive diffusion of small lipophilic substances (O<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and ethanol) (Abbott et al., 2006; Ballabh et al., 2004) or through specific transport systems (Obermeier et al., 2016; Stamatovic et al., 2008). There are two main types of transporters expressed by brain ECs: transporters that promote the movement of specific molecules down their concentration gradient, and efflux transporters that require ATP consumption to transport substances from brain to blood (Daneman & Prat, 2015; Knox et al., 2022; Stamatovic et al., 2008). For instance, the BBB is enriched in the glucose transporter-I (GLUTI), particularly in the abluminal membrane (Cardoso et al., 2010). In opposition, efflux transporters as the ABC transporters act as efflux pumps for a variety of lipid-soluble compounds.

In addition, there are some macromolecules (peptides and proteins) with a particular role within the CNS that can cross the BBB via endocytotic mechanisms in a process called transcytosis (Abbott et al., 2010; Serlin et al., 2015). Transcytosis can be divided in receptor-mediated transcytosis or adsorptive-mediated transcytosis (Abbott et al., 2010).



**Figure 1.4. Transport across the blood-brain barrier (BBB).** There are multiples routes for molecular traffic across the BBB, according to the characteristics of each molecule. (A) The paracellular pathway is responsible for the passage of small water-soluble agents to the brain parenchyma. (B) Lipid-soluble agents can diffuse through the endothelium. (C) Carrier-mediated transporters are required to transport crucial substances, including amino acids, glucose, and nucleosides into the brain. (D) Active efflux carriers may pump some lipid-soluble compounds out of the ECs. (E) Receptor-mediated transport macromolecules such as peptides and proteins across the endothelium. (F) Adsorptive-mediated transcytosis is induced when an excessively charged molecule interacts with cell surface binding sites and promote endocytosis and subsequent transcytosis (adapted from Chen & Liu, 2012).

#### 1.2.3 BBB regulates immune cell trafficking into the CNS

The BBB is a highly specialized structure that regulates the entry of peripheral immune cells into the brain parenchyma (Cecchelli et al., 2007). For instance, the trafficking of leukocytes across the vascular endothelium is highly restricted, mainly due ECs low levels of adhesion molecules and inflammatory mediators (Alvarez et al., 2011). However, in neuroinflammatory diseases, leukocyte migration into the CNS is significantly upregulated, which contribute to BBB disruption (Engelhardt, 2006; Lucchinetti et al., 2000).

Leukocyte recruitment into the brain parenchyma is a complex and dynamic process that involves different steps (Carman & Martinelli, 2015). Briefly, it consists in the attachment of leukocytes to the vessel wall, followed by the diapedesis of immune

cells across the vascular endothelium and migration into the brain parenchyma (Langen et al., 2019). Adhesion molecules mediate the contact between leukocytes and ECs, playing a decisive role in the transmigration of leukocytes across the microvasculature (Greenwood et al., 2011; Takeshita & Ransohoff, 2012). Interestingly, an increase in the expression of adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule I (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule I (ICAM-1), and E-selectin represents a key feature of peripheral inflammation and BBB dysfunction in multiple pathological conditions (Huang et al., 2021; Rossi et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.4 Stress and the BBB

Chronic stress is considered an important risk factor for several disorders, including anxiety and depression. More recently, stress has been associated with cardio and cerebrovascular diseases (Everson-Rose et al., 2014). In fact, the impact of chronic stress in the BBB is a research topic that has been overlooked, despite its essential role in brain protection and hemostasis (Welcome & Mastorakis, 2020). Nevertheless, Menard and collaborators (2017) have already demonstrated that chronic stress promotes BBB permeability with the passage of interleukine-6 leading to depressive-like behavior. Moreover, other studies have shown that chronic stress leads to downregulation of TJs, (Sántha et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2019) and AJs (Xu et al., 2019) and subsequently behavioral and cognitive alterations. Importantly, others studies did not found an effect on BBB permeability caused by stress (Northrop & Yamamoto, 2012; Roszkowski & Bohacek, 2016). Therefore, it remains unclear how stress interferes with the cellular and molecular components of the BBB and if these alterations play a critical role on stress-associated behaviors.

#### **I.3** The complement system

#### 1.3.1 An overview

The complement system plays a critical role in innate immunity regulation, acting as the first line of defense against pathogens (Carpanini et al., 2019). In addition, this system also serves other pivotal functions in the CNS, including the elimination of apoptotic cells and cellular debris, and in mediating synapse pruning during brain development (Alexander, 2018; Stephan et al., 2012; Veerhuis et al., 2011). Interestingly, although the liver is the main source of complement proteins, multiple resident brain cells (neurons, glial cells, and ECs) are able to express these proteins (Veerhuis et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2016). The complement system is composed by a large family of more than 30 proteins, present either as soluble proteins in the blood or as membraneassociated proteins, that are inactive and classified as zymogens (Hammad et al., 2018; Sarma & Ward, 2011). Complement activation occurs through three distinct pathways (classical, lectin and alternative), resulting in a cascade of proteolytic steps that cleave and activate zymogens (Figure 1.5) (Stephan et al., 2012). Importantly, all the pathways lead to the formation of C3 convertases (C4b2a or C3bBb), that cleave C3 into C3a and C3b (Brennan et al., 2012; Veerhuis et al., 2011). C3b helps to amplify the complement cascade and connects to C3 convertases, which results in the formation of C5 convertases (C4b2a3b or C3bBbC3b), and subsequent cleavage of C5 into C5a and C5b (Sarma & Ward, 2011). C5b recruits C6, C7, C8 and 10–16 C9 molecules to initiate the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) (Stephan et al., 2012).



**Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the complement pathway.** The complement cascade plays an important role in innate immunity regulation. Complement activation can occur via three pathways: classical, mannose-binding lectin (MBL) and alternative pathways. Regardless of their trigger, all pathways converge in a central molecule, C3, which is cleaved by C3 convertases (C4b2a or C3bBb) into C3a and C3b. Amplification of the cascade lead to the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) (adapted from Zhu et al., 2021).

#### 1.3.2 The classical pathway

The classical pathway acts as an interface between innate immunity and adaptive immune response (Nayak et al., 2010). The classical pathway is initiated by the binding of C1q to the fragment crystallizable region of IgG and/or IgM antibodies (Hammad et al., 2018; Mathern & Heeger, 2015). The binding of C1q induces a conformational change in this protein, leading to the activation of C1r (Merle et al., 2015; Stephan et al., 2012). Consequently, C1r cleaves and generates C1s (Merle et al., 2015). Once activated, C1s cleaves C4 into C4a and C4b, and C2 into C2a and C2b, allowing the formation of C3 convertase, or C4b2a complex (Riihilä et al., 2019; Sarma & Ward, 2011). Then, C3 convertase cleave C3 into two molecules, the anaphylatoxin C3a and the opsonin C3b (Brennan et al., 2012). Anaphylatoxins are involved in histamine release from mast cells, smooth muscle contraction and can increase vascular permeability, whereas opsonins

increases phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and pathogens (Hammad et al., 2018; Sarma & Ward, 2011).

#### 1.3.3 The mannose-binding lectin (MBL) pathway

The lectin pathway is triggered when MBL and ficolins bind to mannan and other carbohydrate moieties or acetylated moieties present on the surface of pathogens (Veerhuis et al., 2011). Both MBL and ficolins are found in the serum as complexes with MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs), which are functionally homologous to C1r and C1s (Mathern & Heeger, 2015; Sørensen et al., 2005). There are four types of MASPs (1,2,3 and 19), however only MASP2 cleave both C4 and C2 to generate C3 convertase (Ricklin et al., 2010; Sarma & Ward, 2011).

#### 1.3.4 The alternative pathway

The alternative pathway consists in the spontaneously and continuously hydrolysis of C3 at low level ("tickover"), leading to the formation of  $C3_{H2O}$  (Bexborn et al., 2008; Ricklin et al., 2010). Factor B (fB) and factor D (fD) are later recruited, with fB being cleaved by fD to form C3 convertase, or C3bBb complex (Hammad et al., 2018). Importantly, the levels of C3bBb are regulated by properdin, a plasma protein activated by neutrophils and that prevents its cleavage by Factors H and I (Kemper et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.5 Complement pathway and the BBB

The complement pathway is normally protective, playing a critical role in the regulation of brain homeostasis and development (Carpanini et al., 2019). However, complement dysregulation due to its abnormal activation, has been related with multiple CNS pathologies and neurodegenerative conditions (Hong et al., 2016). Particularly, C3a is considered a pro-inflammatory mediator that binds to its G-protein-coupled C3aR receptor and induces leukocyte activation, vascular permeability, and chemotaxis (Mastellos et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019). C3 also regulates vascular endothelium activation and contributes to neutrophil recruitment into the brain parenchyma, suggesting that complement components from the circulation may play a significant role

in endothelial activation (Wu et al., 2016). Furthermore, increased levels of C3 were associated with BBB breakdown in mice with cerebral malaria (Lackner et al., 2008). Therefore, BBB dysfunction can occur through complement dysregulation or be exacerbated by complement activation (Alexander, 2018).

#### **I.4 Objectives**

Chronic stress is a major precipitant factor for anxiety- and depressive-like behavior, as well as cognitive deficits. Additionally, sex differences in brain structure, function, clinical manifestation, and prevalence of neuropsychiatric disorders are well documented. Nevertheless, it remains to be elucidated if chronic stress induces BBB alterations and if changes associated with stress are sex-specific. Moreover, dysfunction of the complement pathway has been associated with BBB leakage and several pathological conditions, but the impact of chronic stress in cerebrovascular function and C3 complement pathway remains elusive.

Thus, this work aims to unravel BBB alterations induced by chronic stress, with a particular focus on the C3 complement pathway and also to unveil if changes induced by stress exposure are sex-dependent.

# Chapter II

**Materials and Methods** 

# 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Animals

Adult (2 months old) male (200-225g) and female (135-175g) Wistar rats were acquired from Charles River Laboratories (L'Arbresle, France). Rats of the same sex were paired-housed and maintained in standard environmental conditions (12h light/dark cycle, from 08:00 a.m. to 08:00 p.m.; 22°C, relative humidity of 55%) with food and water *ad libitum*. Animals were divided randomly into four different experimental groups: a group of males not submitted to unpredictable chronic mild stress (uCMS) protocol (Control male); a group of females not exposed to uCMS (Control female); a group of males submitted to uCMS male); a group of females exposed to uCMS (uCMS female). All experiments were conducted by certified researchers in accordance with European (2010/63/EU) and Portuguese (DL no. 113/2013) laws. The present study was approved by Portuguese National Authority for Animal Health "DGAV". All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to reduce the number of animals used.

#### 2.2 Unpredictable chronic mild stress (uCMS)

A validated unpredictable chronic mild stress (uCMS) protocol previously described (Alves et al., 2017; Gaspar et al., 2021; Mateus-Pinheiro et al., 2013; Willner, 2005) was applied during 6 weeks. This protocol is one of the most widely used and consists in the continuous and unpredictable exposure to a wide range of different mild stressors during 6 consecutive weeks (Nollet et al., 2013; Willner et al., 1987; Willner, 2017) (Table 1). The application of distinct stressors is an essential factor to prevent the habituation of animals to the protocol.

Week I	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	
9h - 10h	Conference	Cage Replacement	Empty Bottle		Cage Replacement			
I0h - IIh	Confinement	Inacc. Food	Ih Water Intake	Tilted Cage	Carlana			
h -   2h			Conference		Confinement			
12h - 13h	Strobe Lights	Strobe Lights Overcrowding	Confinement	White Noise	White Noise Tilted Cage			
13h - 14h	-							
14h - 15h								
15h - 16h	Quantum		Tilted Cage	Tilted Cage	0			
16h - 17h	Overcrowding	Overcrowding White Noise		Overcrowaing	Strobe Lights			
17h - 18h								
O/N	Wet Bed + Food Deprivation	Water Dep. + O/N Illum.	Strobe Lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Rev. Light + Tilted Cage			

 Table I. Schedule of chronic mild stressors administered for a 7-day period and repeated for 6 weeks.

Week 2	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
9h - 10h		Cage Replacement	Inacc. Food		Cage Replacement		
10h - 11h	Corre Suritade	Empty Bottle			Confinement		
h -  2h	Cage Switch			White Noise	Cage Switch		
12h - 13h		White Noise	Tilted Cage				
13h - 14h	Confinement						
14h - 15h		ie in the second s					
15h - 16h	Strobe						
16h - 17h	Lights	Overcrowaing	Confinement	Overcrowaing	Strobe Lights		
17h - 18h			Confinement				
O/N	Water Dep. + Wet Bed	Food Deprivation+ ON Illumination	Strobe Lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Inv. Light + Tilted Cage		

Week 3	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
9h - 10h		Cage Replacement	Inacc. Food		Cage Replacement		
10h - 11h	Tiltad Care	Empty Bottle	Configuration	Quantum	Confinement		
h -   2h	- Tilted Cage		Confinement	Overcrowding			
12h - 13h	-	White Noise			Strobe Lights		
13h - 14h	Confinement						
14h - 15h			The LCore	Cage Switch			
15h - 16h	Strobe Lights	O successfully	Tilted Cage		Tilted Cage		
16h - 17h		Overcrowaing		White Noise			
17h - 18h	-						
O/N	Water Dep. + Wet Bed	Food Dep.+O/N Illumination	Strobe Lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Rev. Light + Tilted Cage		

Week 4	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
9h - 10h	Caller	Cage Replacement	Empty Bottle		Cage Replacement		
10h - 11h	Confinement	Inacc. Food					
h -  2h		Strobe	Overcrowding	Cage Switch	vvnite Noise		
12h - 13h	White Noise Lights			Configurat			
13h - 14h			Confinement		Confinement		
14h - 15h							
15h - 16h	0	Tilted Cage	ХАЛ-1 N I - 1	The LCore	0		
16h - 17h	Overcrowding		vvnite Noise	Tilted Cage	Overcrowaing		
17h - 18h							
O/N	Food Dep. + Wet Bed	Water Dep. + O/N Illum.	Strobe Lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Rev. Light		

Week 5	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
9h - 10h		Cage Replacement	Empty Bottle		Cage Replacement		
10h - 11h		Inacc. Food		Overcrowding	Confinement		
h -   2h	Cage Switch		Strobe Lights		White Noise		
12h - 13h							
13h - 14h		lilted cage	ge White Noise	Tilted Cage			
14h - 15h	Strobe Lights						
15h - 16h							
16h - 17h		Overcrowding		Cage Switch	Strobe Lights		
17h - 18h	Confinement		Confinement	Confinement			
O/N	Food Dep. + Wet Bed	Water Dep. + O/N Illum.	Strobe lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Rev. Light + Tilted Cage		

Week 6	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
9h - 10h		Cage Replacement	Empty Bottle		Cage Replacement		
IOh - IIh	Couch a Linhar	Inacc. Food	Confinement	Tilted Cage	Configuration		
11h - 12h	Strode Lights		Confinement	Confineme	Confinement		
12h - 13h		Cage Switch		White Noise			
13h - 14h	Confinement		Strobe Lights		Overcrowding		
14h - 15h							
15h - 16h	Quantum	vvnite inoise		Cage Switch	Strobe Lights		
16h - 17h	Overcrowaing		Overcrowding				
17h - 18h		Tilted Cage					
O/N	Food Dep. + Wet Bed	Water Dep. + O/N Illum.	Strobe lights (LF)	Wet Bed	Rev. Light + Tilted Cage		

The uCMS protocol used in the present study includes multiple stressors as confinement to a restricted space (1-2h, Figure 2.1.A), stroboscopic lighting (2-4h), overcrowding (3-4h, Figure 2.1.B), wet bedding for 8h, cage switch (3-4h), food or water deprivation overnight followed by exposure to inaccessible food/water for 1h, exposure to white noise (3-5h), placement in a tilted cage (30°, Figure 2.1.C), overnight illumination and reversed light/dark cycle for 48 h every 7 days. The uCMS animals were randomly exposed to 3-6 stressors every day for 6 weeks. In opposition, control rats were pair-housed, daily handled, and given access to water and standard chow diet *ad libitum*. Body weight was monitored weekly.







**Figure 2.1.** Photographs representing three of the stressors used in the uCMS protocol. (A) Photographic representation of confinement to a restricted space. Rats were confined to a plastic ventilated box, and without access to food and water. (B) Photographic representation of overcrowding. Rats were restrained to their homecage, with access to food and water. (C) Photographic representation of tilted cage. Cages were placed at the floor and tilted at a 30° angle.

#### 2.3 Behavioral tests

After the conclusion of the uCMS protocol, behavior was monitored for anxious, anhedonic- and depressive-like behavior, as well as cognition. All behavioral studies were performed during the dark period of the light/dark cycle. The behavioral tests were conducted according to the following order: Elevated Plus Maze Test (EPM); Sucrose Preference Test (SPT); Novel Object Recognition (NOR); Forced Swimming Test (FST).

## 2.3.1 Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) Test

The Elevated Plus Maze Test was conducted to assess anxiety-like behavior. The EPM is based on the innate aversion that rodents have for open areas and preference for darker and close spaces. The behavioral apparatus (LE840; Panlab; Barcelona, Spain) consisted in two opposite open arms (45 cm  $\times$  10 cm) and two closed arms (45 cm  $\times$  10 cm  $\times$  35 cm) (Figure 2.2) elevated 65 cm above the floor and dimly illuminated by red light. Rats were individually placed in the center (neutral zone) of the maze and allowed to freely explore it during 5 min. Moreover, each trial was video recorded. The level of anxiety-like behavior was measured by the analysis of the time and number of entries in the open arms.



Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) Test. Anxiety-like behavior was evaluated on the EPM test, a four-armed maze that consists of two open arms (thin lines) and two closed arms (thick lines), elevated above the floor. Image created with BioRender.com

#### 2.3.2 Sucrose Preference Test (SPT)

The Sucrose Preference Test was performed to evaluate anhedonia, a core component of depressive disorders, and characterized as the inability to feel pleasure and motivation. Baseline sucrose preference was measured before starting the uCMS protocol (three independent trials). Before each assay, animals were food and water deprived for 12h. For testing, two pre-weighed bottles containing water or a 2% (m/v) sucrose solution were presented to individually housed animals for 1h (Figure 2.3). After the end of uCMS protocol, animals were tested again for sucrose preference (SP) (one independent trial) and SP was calculated through the following formula: SP = (sucrose intake / (sucrose intake + water intake)) x 100, as previously described by Bekris et al., (2005). Anhedonia is defined as a reduction in SP relative to baseline levels.



**Figure 2.3. Schematic representation of Sucrose Preference Test (SPT).** The SPT is a rewardbased test used to measure anhedonia, a core symptom of depression. To evaluate anhedonia, two preweighed bottles containing water or a 2% (m/v) sucrose solution were presented to individually housed animals for 1h after the end of the uCMS protocol. Baseline sucrose preference value was assessed before the start of the uCMS protocol. Anhedonia was defined as a reduction in sucrose preference relative to baseline levels. Image created with BioRender.com

#### 2.3.3 Novel Object Recognition (NOR)

The Novel Object Recognition test was used to evaluate cognition, particularly recognition memory. On the first day, rats were familiarized to the testing arena consisting of an acrylic box (60 (W)  $\times$  70 (D)  $\times$  40 (H) cm), for 10 min and with no object presentation. On the second day, animals were allowed to freely explore two identical

objects for 10 min and 1h later they returned to the arena for 3 min, with one the objects being replaced by a novel one. The familiar and novel objects were similar on size, but with different shape, texture and color (Figure 2.4). The NOR arena was cleaned with 10% ethanol between each trial to avoid odor cues. Each assay was video recorded and the time spent exploring each object was measured. The percentage of time spent exploring the novel object / (time exploring the familiar object + time exploring the novel object) was calculated as a measure of recognition memory (recognition index). The exploration of an object was considered when the animal 's nose is pointed towards and no more than 2 cm away from the object.



**Figure 2.4. Schematic representation of Novel Object Recognition (NOR).** The NOR Test was performed to evaluate cognition, particularly recognition memory. The image on the left illustrates the familiarization phase (with two copies of the same object) and the image on the right shows the test phase (with a familiar object and with a novel object). Image created with BioRender.com

#### 2.3.4 Forced Swimming Test (FST)

The FST was used to specifically evaluate depressive-like behavior. This test was conducted on two different days. On the first day, rats were individually placed in transparent cylinders (62 cm height and 25.4 cm diameter) filled with water (25°C; 50 cm depth) for a 5 min pre-test session. On the following day, animals were subjected to the 5 min test session (Figure 2.5). Experiments were video recorded and the total time animals spend immobile (immobility time) was measured. Immobility was defined as an absence of movement or a floating state, without any activity other than that needed to keep the head above water. Behavioral despair was defined as an increase in the immobility time.



**Figure 2.5. Schematic representation of Forced Swimming Test (FST).** Immobility time, which is a marker of a passive coping strategy (one of the components of depressive-like behavior), was evaluated by FST. Rats were placed in a transparent cylinder filled with water and their behavior was determined. Image created with BioRender.com

#### 2.4 Western Blot Analysis

Rats were anaesthetized with intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (50 mg/kg)/xylazine (10 mg/kg) and transcardially perfused with 0.01 M phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na2HPO4, 1.47 mM KH2PO4, pH 7.4). After brain removal, PFC and HIP were dissected on ice and stored at -80°C. Total protein of each brain region was obtained after homogenizing and lysing the tissue using Radio-Immunoprecipitation Assay (RIPA) lysis buffer [(150 mM NaCl; 50 mM Tris; 5 mM ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA) pH 7.5; 1% Triton X-100; 0.5% deoxycholate (DOC); 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)], supplemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail tablets (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany), phosphatase inhibitor (PhosSTOPTM, Roche Applied Science) and I mM dithiothreitol (DTT) (Bioron, Porto, Portugal). Thereafter, the lysates were sonicated and centrifuged at 16100 ×g for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C until protein quantification.

Protein concentration in each sample was determined by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) method (Pierce, Rockford, USA) with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as standard and stored at -20°C until further use. Protein samples were prepared by adding sample buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8; 30% glycerol; 10% SDS; 0.6 M DTT; 0.01% bromophenol blue), and then heated at 95°C for 5 min. After samples denaturation, proteins of interest (Table II) were separated by electrophoresis on 8%, 10% or 12% SDS-polyacrylamide

gel (depending on the target protein) at 110V for 5 min and at 150V until the end of the run. Proteins were then electrotransferred onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore, Madrid Spain) in Tris-glycine buffer at (0.25A for 1h and 0.3A for 30 min), 3-(cyclohexylamino)-I-propanesulfonic acid (CAPS) at (110V for 1h30) or CAPS + SDS 0.1% buffer at (110V for 1h30) (according to the target protein). Membranes were blocked with 5% (w/v) nonfat milk in Tris-buffered saline (137 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris; pH 7.6;) containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 (TBS-T) for 1h at room temperature (RT). Afterwards, the membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C and 30 min at RT in the following day, with the primary antibodies (Table III) diluted in TBS-T containing nonfat milk. Membranes were washed 3 times in TBS-T and then incubated I h at RT with respective alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibody (Table IV) diluted in TBS-T. Then, membranes were washed again 3 times in TBS-T and proteins were visualized using enhanced chemofluorescent (ECF) reagent (GE Healthcare) on Typhoon FLA 9000 (GE Healthcare Bioscience AB, Uppsala, Sweden), or with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) method kit (GE Healthcare) on ImageQuant LAS 500 (GE Healthcare Bioscience AB, Uppsala, Sweden). Immunoblots were re-probed with glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) to ensure equal sample loading. Analysis and quantification of band density was performed using Image Studio 5.2 software (LI-COR Biosciences, NE, USA) and results were expressed in percentage of control.

Protein	Molecular Weight (kDa)	Amount of protein (µg)
C3aR	65	25
Claudin-5	18-23	50
Occludin	65-82	25
VE-Cadherin	130	50
VCAM-I	110	25
Albumin	67	50
GFAP	55	25
GAPDH	37	-

Table II. List of	proteins identified b	y western blot anal	ysis.
-------------------	-----------------------	---------------------	-------

 Table III. List of primary antibodies used in western blot analysis.

Primary Antibody	Dilution	Reference	Company
Mouse anti-C3aR	l:500	sc-133172	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
Mouse anti-Claudin 5	1:250	35-2500	Invitrogen
Rabbit anti- Occludin	1:200	71-1500	Invitrogen
Mouse anti-VE- Cadherin	1:200	sc-9989	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
Rabbit anti-VCAM-I	1:200	sc-1504	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
Goat anti-Albumin	I:20000	A90-134	Bethyl Laboratories, Montogomery, TX, USA
Rabbit anti-GFAP	1:5000	G9269	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Mouse anti-GAPDH	1:5000	MA5-15738	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA

 Table IV. List of secondary antibodies used in western blot analysis.

Secondary Antibody	Dilution	Company
Anti-mouse IgG+IgM alkaline phosphatase conjugated	1:5000	GE Healthcare
Anti-rabbit IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugated	1:10000	GE Healthcare
Anti-goat IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugated	1:10000	Invitrogen
Anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidase conjugated	1:10000	GE Healthcare

#### 2.5 Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemistry analysis, rats were deeply anesthetized intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (50 mg/kg)/xylazine (10 mg/kg), and transcardially perfused with 0.01 M PBS, pH 7.4. Then, brains were removed, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 24h at RT and transferred to 30% sucrose in 0.01 M PBS, pH 7.4, for 24 h at 4°C. After fixation, brains were cryopreserved at -80°C until further processing.

Coronal sections (50 µm) were cut on a cryostat (Leica CM3050S, Nussloch, Germany), placed in a 24-well plate with a crioprotectant solution (0.1 M phosphate buffer, 30% sucrose and 30% ethylene glycol) and stored at 4°C until further use. Afterwards, sections were washed 3 times with 0.01 M PBS and then, blocked with 5% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.25% Triton X-100 in PBS (2h at RT). Thereafter, sections were incubated with the antibody for GFAP (mouse anti-GFAP conjugated toCy3 reactive dye; 1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich) and with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (1:5000, Invitrogen), for nuclei staining, 2h at RT. Sections were washed 3 times with 0.01 M PBS and mounted on gelatinized slides, using glycergel (DAKO mounting medium). Images were recorded using a LSM 710 Meta Confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). GFAP immunoreactivity analysis was performed using Fiji (Image J software).

#### 2.6 Quantification of corticosterone levels by ELISA Assay

Corticosterone levels in blood serum were measured using an ELISA kit (ab108821, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Blood samples were collected through puncture of the tail vein, between the diurnal nadir (8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m.) and diurnal zenith (8:00 p.m. - 9:00 p.m.). Blood samples and standard concentrations of corticosterone were added to a 96-well plate and incubated with biotinylated corticosterone during 2h (RT). Then, the plate wells were washed 5 times with wash solution, followed by incubation for 30 min at RT with the streptavidin-peroxidase conjugate. After another 5 washes, the chromogen substrate was added and incubated for 20 min or until obtain the optimal blue color density. Finally, the reaction

was stopped with stop solution, changing the color from blue to yellow and the plate was read in a microplate reader (Biotek Synergy HT) at 450 nm, with correction reading for 570 nm. Corticosterone concentration (ng/mL) was extrapolated from a standard curve.

#### 2.7 Quantification of complement C3 levels by ELISA Assay

Complement C3 levels were measured in the PFC, HIP and blood serum of animal models using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (ab157731, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, rat PFC and HIP samples were collected immediately following decapitation under anesthesia and lysed using an ELISA specific lysis buffer (pH 8.0; 150 mM NaCl; 10 mM Tris-HCl; 10% Triton X-100; ImM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), complemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail tablets (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany) and a phosphatase inhibitor (PhosSTOPTM, Roche Applied Science). For blood serum analysis, blood samples were collected directly from cardiac left ventricle from all animals. Before using, the lysates were centrifugated and the supernatants were quantified by BCA assay. Both samples and standard were added to a 96-well plate and incubated at RT for 20 min. Then, the plate wells were washed 4 times with wash solution and incubated at RT with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) during 20 min, in the dark. After another 4 washes, chromogen substrate solution was added and incubated at RT, in the dark. Ten minutes later, a stop solution was added, and the plate was immediately read at 450nm in a microplate reader (Biotek Synergy HT). A standard curve was used to calculate the C3 protein levels, expressed as ng/mL.

#### 2.8 Estrous cycle analysis

Smears were obtained through vaginal cytology collected at the end of EPM test. Three cell types (nucleated epithelial cells, cornified epithelial cells and leukocytes) were noted to define the reproductive cycle (estrous), which is defined by the prevalence of each cell type: proestrus (nucleated), estrus (cornified), metestrus (all types in the same proportion) and diestrus (leukocytes) (Byers et al., 2012; Caligioni, 2009; Westwood, 2008). Images were acquired with a light microscope Leica DM 4000B (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) with a 10x objective lens (Plan 10x/0.25PH1).

### 2.9 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used to perform statistical analysis. Outliers were identified using GraphPad Prism 8. Two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) followed by a Bonferroni post hoc test was used to evaluate the effect of uCMS (Control vs uCMS) and the effect of sex (Male vs Female). Moreover, ttest was used to evaluate the effect of uCMS (Control vs uCMS). Results are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (mean ± SEM). Statistical significance was indicated when p<0.05.

# Chapter III

Results

## 3. Results

#### 3.1 Effect of uCMS on the circadian corticosterone levels in both sexes

Previous studies have reported that chronic stress is associated with the disruption of the HPA axis, leading to a hypersecretion of corticosteroids (Bao & Swaab, 2019; Willner et al., 2013).

In the present study, a validated uCMS protocol (Alves et al., 2017; Gaspar et al., 2021; Mateus-Pinheiro et al., 2013) was applied during 6 weeks. After the end of the uCMS protocol, corticosterone levels were measured in the serum. No significant alterations were observed in the corticosterone levels of both males (Figure 3.1 A) and females exposed to uCMS (Figure 3.1 B), which suggest that chronic stress does not contribute to an imbalance in the HPA axis activity.



**Figure 3.1. uCMS does not promote a dysregulation of the circadian corticosterone levels in both sexes.** Corticosterone serum levels were measured at 8:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. by ELISA in male (A) and female (B) rats. Results are presented as the mean ± SEM of 7-10 animals, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.2 uCMS impairs body weight gain in males, but not in females

Body weight was determined weekly until the end of the uCMS protocol. Male rats exposed to uCMS presented an impaired weight gain (\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001) comparing with control males particularly after 2 and 4 weeks of the uCMS procedure (Figure 3.2 A). By contrast, the uCMS protocol did not significantly affect body weight

gain in female rats (Figure 3.2 B). These data suggest that chronic stress impact on weight gain is sex dependent.



Figure 3.2. uCMS impairs body weight gain in males, but not in females. Body weight of male (A) and female (B) rats after the 6 weeks of uCMS protocol. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 9–10 animals. \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, comparing with control males using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.3 Behavioral alterations induced by uCMS

In order to evaluate behavior domains typically affected by chronic stress, namely anxious, anhedonic- and depressive-like behavior, as well as cognition, behavioral tests were conducted after the end of the uCMS protocol.

Anxiety-like behavior was assessed by EPM test. No significant differences were found in the time and number of entries in the open arms, in both males and females exposed to uCMS, comparing with respective controls (Figure 3.3 A, B).

In the SPT, that evaluates anhedonia, no differences were found in sucrose consumption of both males and females after the uCMS comparing with control animals (Figure 3.3 C).

To measure recognition memory both in males and females, NOR test was performed. The analysis of the recognition index, as an index of memory retention, showed that chronic stress did not impair recognition memory in both males and females (Figure 3.3 D).

In the FST, behavioral despair was calculated as time of immobility. uCMS induced a depressive-like behavior in male rats (\*\*p < 0.01), as demonstrated by the increased

immobility time in the FST, compared with control animals. In females, no significant differences were observed between groups in immobility time. Moreover, sex-specific differences in the duration of immobility time were noted. Comparing only control groups, males present a significantly lower immobility time than females (#p < 0.01), suggesting a sex-specific performance of the animals in this test.

The estrous cycle analysis was performed in females to evaluate if the stage of the cycle could interfere with the behavioral results. According to these findings, females were distributed by all phases of the estrous cycle, suggesting that the phase of the estrous cycles did not influence the behavioral outcomes. (Table V).



**Figure 3.3. uCMS induces depressive-like behavior in males.** (A) Time spent and (B) number of entries in open arms of the EPM test, used to evaluate anxiety-like behavior in males and females. (C) Anhedonic-like behavior in males and females was measured by the preference for sucrose solution in the SPT. (D) The recognition index was calculated using the NOR test, to evaluate recognition memory deficits in males and females. (E) Depressive-like behavior was assessed by the total time of immobility in

the FST in males and females. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 8-10 animals. \*\*p < 0.01: control males compared with uCMS males; ##p < 0.01: control males compared with control females, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

	Proestrus	Estrus	Metestrus	Diestrus
Control	5	I	3	I
uCMS	I	2	4	3

**Table V.** Female rats estrous cycle determined at the end of EPM test.

# 3.4 Analysis of C3 and C3aR levels in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and serum

Abnormal activation of the complement system has been related to multiple consequences in CNS disorders, including neuroinflammation (Carpanini et al., 2019). Therefore, C3 protein levels were determined in the PFC, HIP, and serum by ELISA, since C3 is positioned at the intersection point of all complement pathways. No significant differences in the C3 protein levels were detected in the PFC (Figure 3.4 A), HIP (Figure 3.4 B) and serum (Figure 3.4 C) following uCMS exposure of both males and females.

The cleavage of C3 into C3a and C3b is a critical step in all three complement pathways. Moreover, C3a is considered a pro-inflammatory mediator that acts through its receptor, C3aR, which has been implicated in leukocyte activation, vascular permeability, and chemotaxis (Mastellos et al., 2016; Y. Wang et al., 2019). To further clarify the role of C3/C3aR axis, the protein levels of C3aR in the PFC and in the HIP were assessed by western blot analysis. In the PFC, no significant differences were detected in both sexes, although a tendency to a decrease of C3aR protein levels was identified in males exposed to uCMS, compared with controls (p = 0.09) (Figure 3.4 D). Importantly, more experiments are needed to confirm this tendency. In the HIP, no significant alterations were observed in the C3aR protein levels in both sexes after the uCMS protocol (Figure 3.4 E). Overall, these findings suggest that chronic stress does not lead to alterations of C3 and C3aR protein levels.


Figure 3.4. uCMS does not alter C3 and C3aR protein levels in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and serum. Complement C3 levels were measured by ELISA in the prefrontal cortex

(A), hippocampus (B) and serum (C) in male and female rats. C3aR protein levels were evaluated by western blot analysis in the prefrontal cortex (D) and hippocampus (E) of male and female rats. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 4-7 animals, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.5 The impact of uCMS on BBB properties

The BBB is considered the gate-keeper of the CNS, regulating brain homeostasis and protecting the CNS against peripheral insults (Cardoso et al., 2010; Welcome & Mastorakis, 2020). To evaluate possible alterations in BBB integrity after chronic stress exposure, albumin protein levels in the PFC were evaluated by western blot analysis. Albumin is a blood serum protein with high molecular weight that under normal conditions does not cross BBB. According to the results obtained, uCMS did not promote the leakage of albumin into the PFC (Figure 3.5 A).

As previously mentioned, the identification of albumin in the brain parenchyma involves significant alterations in BBB permeability. Thus, although no significant changes were visualized in the albumin protein levels in the PFC after uCMS, other subtill alterations may occur. To better clarify possible BBB alterations, intercellular junctions that regulate the paracellular transport between ECs, namely TJ (claudin-5 and occludin) and AJ (VE-cadherin) proteins, were evaluated by western blot analysis in the PFC. No significant alterations were observed in the claudin-5 protein levels between control and uCMS groups in male rats. In contrast, a significant upregulation in the claudin-5 protein levels were observed in females exposed to uCMS (&p < 0.05) (Figure 3.5 B). Regarding occludin and VE-cadherin protein levels, no significant alterations were detected in males and females exposed to uCMS (Figure 3.5 C and D, respectively).



Figure 3.5. uCMS leads to an increase in the claudin-5 protein levels of females exposed to uCMS. Protein levels of albumin (A), claudin-5 (B), occludin (C) and VE-cadherin (D) were measured by western blot analysis in the prefrontal cortex in male and female rats. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3-6 animals. &p < 0.05, control females compared with uCMS females, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.6 Effect of uCMS in brain leukocyte recruitment

The BBB is a dynamic structure that restrict most of the circulating cells from entering the brain (Russo & McGavern, 2015). However, under pathological conditions leukocyte extravasation can occur into CNS, a process that is mediated by adhesion molecules (Cayrol et al., 2008). Therefore, protein levels of VCAM-1 in the PFC were measured by western blot analysis. Herein, no significant differences were visualized in VCAM-1 protein levels, suggesting that chronic stress exposure does not lead to leukocyte recruitment into to the PFC of male and female rats (Figure 3.6).



**Figure 3.6. uCMS does not promote leukocyte recruitment into the brain.** Protein levels of VCAM-I were measured by western blot analysis in the prefrontal cortex in male and female rats. Results are presented as the mean ± SEM of 5-6 animals, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.7 Astrocytic response triggered by uCMS

To examine possible astrocytic reactivity induced by uCMS, coronal sections of the PFC were stained with GFAP and the respective immunoreactivity was analyzed (Figure 3.7 A). No significant alterations were found between control and uCMS male groups (Figure 3.7 B). Importantly, protein levels of GFAP in males and females were also evaluated by western blot analysis, and no significant differences were observed (Figure 3.7 C). These data suggest that uCMS does not trigger a significant response of astrocytes, at least in the PFC.



**Figure 3.7. uCMS does not alter astrocytic response.** (A) Representative images and (B) quantification of GFAP (red) showing that uCMS does not change GFAP immunoreactivity in male rats. Cell nuclei were also stained with DAPI (blue). Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=1 animal per condition, calculated using a t-test. Scale bar = 20  $\mu$ m. (C) Protein levels of GFAP were measured by western blot analysis in the prefrontal cortex of male and female rats. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 5-6 animals, calculated using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test.

# Chapter IV

Discussion

### 4. Discussion

Chronic stress is a contributing factor for several mood disorders, including depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder (Westfall et al., 2021), that are often associated with changes in behavioral and cellular domains (Franklin et al., 2012; Pittenger & Duman, 2008). Additionally, sex differences in the prevalence of these neuropsychiatric disorders are well established (Brivio et al., 2020; Seney & Sibille, 2014). Interestingly, recent data have suggested that stress is linked with cerebrovascular diseases (Everson-Rose et al., 2014). However, very little attention has been given to the effect of chronic stress on BBB structure and function. In fact, only a few studies examined the impact of stress on brain vasculature, and the main attention has been focused on the role of oxidative stress in vascular hemodynamics and angiogenesis (Burrage et al., 2018). Moreover, the complement pathway emerges as a new player underlying BBB alterations, since when dysregulated it may lead to the loss of BBB integrity and subsequently to CNS disorders (Alexander, 2018). Therefore, the present study aimed to explore the effect of chronic stress in BBB integrity and C3 complement pathway in both sexes, and to clarify if neurovascular alterations underlie stress-induced behavioral deficits.

To achieve these goals, a validated uCMS protocol (Alves et al., 2017; Gaspar et al., 2021; Mateus-Pinheiro et al., 2013) was applied for 6 weeks to male and female rats. The uCMS is one of the most widely used models to evaluate stress-induced alterations in behavior, however it is important to consider that it has been mostly described in male rodents (Frisbee et al., 2015). Additionally, it is demanding in time and space (Lopez & Bagot, 2021) and has been criticized for a lack of reliability (Antoniuk et al., 2019; Willner, 2017). For instance, some studies rarely detail the precise stressor schedule and timing, like if stressors are applied once or twice daily through a (variable) period of weeks, and also not detailing how stressors are used (e.g., white noise without specifying dB or duration) or how variably stressors are applied (e.g., cage tilt for 1–24 hours) (Lopez & Bagot, 2021). Additionally, sex differences in the susceptibility and resilience to stress depend on multiple characteristics of the stressor, including type, timing and severity (Hodes & Epperson, 2019). Despite some fragilities identified in published data, the uCMS is still considered a robust animal model to study the effect of stress exposure in behavioral outcomes.

Chronic stress is associated with impairments in HPA axis activity, which may lead to significant alterations in the production of corticosteroids (Pariante & Lightman, 2008). To analyze whether our stress protocol could lead to HPA axis hyperactivity, circulating corticosterone levels were measured after 6 weeks of uCMS exposure. No significant differences were observed in serum corticosterone levels in both sexes after uCMS, similarly to previous results obtained by others (Gaspar et al., 2022; Marco et al., 2017). On other hand, it has been described that uCMS exposure for 2 weeks induces an increase in serum corticosterone levels in both sexes, resulting in a disruption of the circadian corticosterone secretion levels (Gaspar et al., 2021). Moreover, it seems that males present increased basal corticosterone levels when compared to females, which contrasts to what has been described in rodents that report higher basal corticosterone levels in females than males (Oyola & Handa, 2017). Nonetheless, this depends on gonadal hormones, strain, age, time of sampling, housing conditions and diet (Kokras et al., 2019).

Previous studies have shown a decrease in body weight gain following exposure to uCMS protocol, particularly in males (Gaspar et al., 2022; Konkle et al., 2003; Xing et al., 2013). Consistent with these data, the present results showed that uCMS reduced body weight in males but not in females, suggesting that males may be more susceptible to the metabolic effects of chronic stress. In opposition, Kott et al., (2016) used an different stress protocol, which consisted in the chronic administration of corticosterone for 23 days, resulting in a decrease of body weight in females. Thus, these contrasting results in females may be explained by the type of stress paradigm used. Nevertheless, the intensity of the stressor can also influence these data.

In our study, a uCMS protocol was used in order to evaluate possible behavioral alterations induced by chronic stress in male and female rats. The present data revealed that uCMS did not induce anxiety-like behavior in both males and females, which is not in accordance with other studies that demonstrated that animals exposed to chronic stress spent less time in the open arms of the EPM test (Gaspar et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2014). Moreover, 6 weeks of uCMS did not affect sucrose consumption of the animals of both sexes subjected to uCMS in the SPT, as previously described by Marco et al., (2017). On the contrary, other studies reported that 7 weeks (Bekris et al., 2005) or 6 weeks (Gaspar et al., 2022; Patrício et al., 2015) of uCMS lead to anhedonia in male rats, a core symptom of depression, while in females a decrease in

sucrose preference (Lu et al., 2015) or no alterations (Gaspar et al., 2022) have been described. These discrepancies might result from differences in sucrose concentration, number of hours of food and water deprivation and the day/night period of testing. For instance, we performed the behavioral tests during the night (high activity period) whereas others (Bekris et al., 2005; Gaspar et al., 2022) evaluated behavioral changes during the day (low activity period). Furthermore, stress-induced changes in sucrose preference are different between sexes as a result of intrinsic differences in taste and/or ingestion response (Curtis et al., 2004) or in reactivity to reward (Michaels & Holtzman, 2007). Regarding depressive-like behavior, uCMS exposure significantly increased immobility time of males in the FST, whereas in females no alterations were found as reported by other studies (Bielajew et al., 2003; Gaspar et al., 2022). These results are particularly intriguing because in humans, depression is twice more prevalent in women than men (Kokras & Dalla, 2017). Moreover, a significant increase in immobility time was also observed in control females compared to control males, which suggest that under physiological conditions there are also behavioral sex differences. Fluctuations in gonadal hormones have been shown to regulate the way how males and females cope with stress (Oyola & Handa, 2017), although the present data does not suggest an influence of the estrous cycle on the behavior, since female were distributed through all phases of the cycle. Nevertheless, it should be mentioned that the outcomes of uCMS exposure could be influenced by multiple variables under experimental conditions, including the type and severity of the stressor, exposure parameters, as well as the strain/species used (Frisbee et al., 2015; Hill et al., 2012). In terms of recognition memory, no significant differences were observed in both males and females upon chronic stress exposure in the NOR test, which is not in line with other studies showing that male animals exposed to uCMS present cognitive deficits (Alves et al., 2017; Mohamed et al., 2020). Curiously, to date there are no available data exploring cognitive effects on females exposed to uCMS.

The complement cascade represents one of the major effector mechanisms of the innate immune system (Dunkelberger & Song, 2010) and more recently, it has been proposed that it could be an important mediator of inflammation-related changes in cellular and behavioral processes in neuropsychiatric disorders (Feng et al., 2020). Although the number of studies exploring the link between complement and stressrelated disorders are scarce, recent evidence has indicated that C3 expression was significantly upregulated in the PFC of stress-related mice model and of postmortem

depressed suicide subjects (Crider et al., 2018). The present work did not reveal any significant changes in C3 protein levels in the PFC, HIP, and serum of both males and females rats after uCMS exposure. Furthermore, no differences were found in the C3aR protein levels of males and females rats exposed to uCMS in the PFC and HIP, however a tendency to a decrease in the protein levels of C3aR in the PFC of males exposed to uCMS was observed. In opposite to our observations, a study by Crider and collaborators (2018) showed increased levels of C3aR in the PFC of male mice which contributed to depressive-like behavior, as demonstrated by an increase in immobility time in tail suspension and forced swimming tests. Indeed, the duration of uCMS, type of stressors used and the stress-related animal model could explain the differences observed in the C3aR protein levels between the present work and the study published by (Crider et al., 2018). Also, knocking out C3 in mice prevented the development of depressive-like phenotype following chronic stress (Crider et al., 2018; Tripathi et al., 2021). Thus, future studies are necessary to elucidate if there is a link between depressive-like behavior and an upregulation of C3/C3aR protein levels after chronic stress.

The BBB is a dynamic structure required to maintain a stable brain microenvironment, restricting the transport of toxic substances from the periphery into the brain parenchyma (Campos-Bedolla et al., 2014; Sá-Pereira et al., 2012). In fact, dysfunction of brain vasculature has been often associated with neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders (Kealy et al., 2020; Najjar et al., 2013), although only a few studies have provided novel insights about the effect of chronic stress in the BBB. Here, it was demonstrated that uCMS does not contribute to significant alterations in BBB structure in the PFC, since no albumin extravasation was observed in both males and females. Accordingly, previous studies in different animal models of stress-induced depression did not found alterations in BBB structure with Evans Blue, a dye with high affinity for blood serum albumin, in the PFC (Menard et al., 2017) and with FITC-dextran (10 kDa) (Northrop & Yamamoto, 2012) or FITC-dextran (70 kDa) (Roszkowski & Bohacek, 2016) in the cortex of male rodents. On the contrary, a study published by Dion-Albert et al., (2022) revealed the infiltration of a fluorophore-tagged 10 kDa dextran in the PFC of female mice, confirming BBB leakiness as a result of chronic social defeat stress. In addition, other papers reported stress-induced BBB alterations, namely an increase in BBB permeability with Evans Blue in the nucleus accumbens (Menard et al.,

2017), in the AMY (Xu et al., 2019) and with FITC-dextran (40 kDa) into the perivascular area (Lee et al., 2018) in male rodents. Thus, these differences between multiple studies could result from the types of tracers used to evaluate BBB integrity, particularly the size. Moreover, the duration and magnitude of the stressor can also influence the impact of chronic stress on the BBB (Sharma & Sharma, 2010), and it would be of particular interest to investigate if chronic stress has different effects on the vasculature of other brain regions such as the HIP, which has not been examined in the current study. Since no significant changes in albumin protein levels in the PFC were noted, other possible alterations in BBB induced by uCMS were explored in more detail. The TJs and AJs are crucial to the maintenance of barrier properties (Xu et al., 2019), hence is thought that downregulation of TJs and AJs proteins as a result of chronic stress might contribute to BBB damage. Regarding the impact of chronic stress in claudin-5 protein levels, no significant differences were observed between control and uCMS groups in the PFC of male rats, which is consistent with a study conducted by Menard et al., (2017) in a stressrelated mice model. Noteworthy, a significant increase in claudin-5 protein levels in the PFC of females exposed to uCMS was detected. This could represent a compensatory mechanism of the BBB in response to a prolonged situation of stress. Curiously, a recent study found that chronic social defeat stress leads to a decrease of claudin-5 expression in the PFC, coincident with anxiety and depressive-like behaviors, and contributing to stress vulnerability, whereas no alterations in claudin-5 expression in the PFC and behavior were correlated with stress resilience in female mice (Dion-Albert et al., 2022). Nevertheless, the authors also demonstrated that stress vulnerability could be related with transcriptomic changes in the endothelium, including for genes involved in oxidative damage. Moreover, transcriptomic adaptations and changes in the expression of endothelial genes related to omega/3-omega-6 fatty acid synthesis may be involved with a stress-resilient phenotype (Dion-Albert et al., 2022). Noteworthy, the use of different stress paradigms may explain the discrepancies between studies. For instance, the present study applied an uCMS protocol, whereas Dion-Albert et al., (2022) used a model of chronic social defeat stress. The effect of uCMS was also assessed in occludin and VE-cadherin protein levels, but no significant alterations were found in the PFC of males and females. Additionally, others studies have also demonstrated that stress exposure does not induce alterations in occludin protein levels in the PFC (Menard et al., 2017) and brain microvessels (Northrop & Yamamoto, 2012) of male rodents.

Despite these data, there are contradictory observations. Some studies showed that stress significantly reduced occludin and VE-cadherin protein levels in the PFC, HIP (Cheng et al., 2018; Sántha et al., 2015) and AMY (Xu et al., 2019) of male rodents. Importantly, the present work uncovers for the first time that uCMS does not affect occludin and VE-cadherin protein levels in the PFC of female rats.

The BBB plays a key role in preventing the infiltration of peripheral immune cells, mainly due ECs low basal expression of adhesion molecules (Alvarez et al., 2011). Since leukocytes infiltration has been implicated in the establishment of anxiety and depression (Hodes et al., 2015), it was considered relevant to evaluate the protein levels of VCAM-I. However, no significant alterations were detected in VCAM-I proteins levels in the PFC of both males and females exposed to uCMS, which cannot contribute to the depressive-like behavior observed in male rats. Moreover, the intact BBB properties in both male and female animals after uCMS could explain the unchanged VCAM-1 protein levels. In contrast, male mice subjected to repeated social stress demonstrated an increase in ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 protein expression in the PFC, HIP and AMY (Sawicki et al., 2015), suggesting that the type of stress protocol used may influence endothelial dysfunction by upregulation of adhesion molecules. Additionally, several studies found a significant association between higher levels of plasma markers of endothelial dysfunction, such as sVCAM-1 and sICAM-1, and depression (Lopez-Vilchez et al., 2016; Müller, 2019; van Agtmaal et al., 2017). Nonetheless, the protein levels of ICAM-1 were not examined in this work and it would be interesting in further studies to unravel if uCMS could lead to an increment of this adhesion molecule. The present study also revealed for the first time that uCMS does not interfere with VCAM-I protein levels in the PFC of female rats.

The impact of uCMS in astrocytic reactivity was also evaluated in this work, since astrocytes play an essential role in the integrity and normal function of the BBB (Zlokovic, 2008). In the present work, no significant alterations were observed in GFAP fluorescence intensity and protein levels in the PFC of male and female rats. Similar findings were reported by Northrop & Yamamoto (2012), who found no changes in GFAP immunoreactivity of isolated cortical microvessels from male rats exposed to uCMS. However, there are some discrepancies in the literature regarding the effect of stress in GFAP reactivity of different brain regions. For instance, an increase in GFAP immunoreactivity was observed in the DG of male mice submitted to uCMS followed by social isolation (Du Preez et al., 2021). In contrast, chronic restraint stress induced a significant decrease in GFAP fluorescence intensity in the PFC (Sántha et al., 2015), and in GFAP protein levels in the periaqueductal gray matter (Imbe et al., 2012) in male rats. The differences observed among studies may result, at least in part, from the stress paradigms used, the animal model and the experimental methods applied. Therefore, further studies are necessary to understand whether chronic stress might contribute to alterations in astrocyte reactivity in the PFC.

# Chapter V

# **Conclusion and Future Perspectives**

### 5. Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Chronic stress is well documented to cause harmful effects on both physical and mental health, contributing to an increased risk for the development of neuropsychiatric disorders. Nevertheless, the main cellular target of the fundamental research in this field has been the neuronal population. Importantly, over the last few years, this idea is progressively shifting focus to the role of non-neuronal cells, such as the brain ECs. Given the critical role of the brain vasculature in the maintenance of a normal cerebrovascular function, it is reasonable to hypothesize a link between BBB alterations and mental health conditions. Therefore, the present study investigated the possible neurovascular changes induced by unpredictable chronic mild stress, with focus on the C3 complement pathway. Additionally, sex-dependent alterations were determined.

The results obtained in this study led to the following main conclusions:

- uCMS impaired body weight gain in males, but not in females.
- uCMS promoted a depressive-like behavior in males, with no significant changes in females behavior.
- C3 protein levels were not altered in the PFC, HIP, and serum of both sexes after uCMS.
- C3aR protein levels were not significantly different between males and females in the PFC and HIP, despite a tendency to decrease in the PFC of males exposed to uCMS.
- uCMS had no significant impact on BBB properties in males, including no alterations of VCAM-I protein levels. On the other hand, an increase in claudin-5 protein levels was found in the PFC of females.
- Astrocytic reactivity was not altered by uCMS in both sexes.

Overall, the present study shows chronic mild stress promotes depressive-like behavior in males, but no alterations in their BBB structure. Moreover, despite a tendency to decrease of C3aR protein levels in the PFC of males, uCMS did not cause alterations in C3/C3aR signaling. In opposition, no significant changes were observed in females after uCMS and this behavior stability was accompanied by an increase in claudin-5 protein levels in the PFC. Thus, it is plausible that an upregulation in claudin-5 might be associated with a stress-resilient phenotype.

Importantly, the results obtained in this work suggest that uCMS has no major impact on the neurovasculature on both sexes, but further studies are necessary to explore in more detail other possible brain alterations induced by uCMS. Several other brain regions associated with emotional-related disorders, such as the AMY and *nucleus accumbens* could be explored, as well as the use of a different stress paradigm.

## References

- Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A. K., Dolman, D. E. M., Yusof, S. R., & Begley, D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 37(1), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030
- Abbott, N. J., Rönnbäck, L., & Hansson, E. (2006). Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 7(1), 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1824
- Alexander, J. J. (2018). Blood-brain barrier (BBB) and the complement landscape. *Molecular Immunology*, 102(July), 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2018.06.267
- Alvarez, J. I., Dodelet-Devillers, A., Kebir, H., Ifergan, I., Fabre, P. J., Terouz, S., Sabbagh, M., Wosik, K., Bourbonnière, L., Bernard, M., van Horssen, J., de Vries, H. E., Charron, F., & Prat, A. (2011). The Hedgehog pathway promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and CNS immune quiescence. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 334(6063), 1727–1731. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1206936
- Alvarez, J. I., Katayama, T., & Prat, A. (2013). Glial influence on the blood brain barrier. *Glia*, 61(12), 1939–1958. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22575
- Alves, N. D., Correia, J. S., Patrício, P., Mateus-Pinheiro, A., Machado-Santos, A. R., Loureiro-Campos, E., Morais, M., Bessa, J. M., Sousa, N., & Pinto, L. (2017). Adult hippocampal neuroplasticity triggers susceptibility to recurrent depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2017.29
- Antoniuk, S., Bijata, M., Ponimaskin, E., & Wlodarczyk, J. (2019). Chronic unpredictable mild stress for modeling depression in rodents: Meta-analysis of model reliability. *Neuroscience Biobehavioral Reviews*, 99, 101–116.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.12.002
- Araya-Callís, C., Hiemke, C., Abumaria, N., & Flugge, G. (2012). Chronic psychosocial stress and citalopram modulate the expression of the glial proteins GFAP and NDRG2 in the hippocampus. *Psychopharmacology*, 224(1), 209–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-012-2741-x
- Armulik, A., Genové, G., & Betsholtz, C. (2011). Pericytes: Developmental, Physiological, and Pathological Perspectives, Problems, and Promises. *Developmental Cell*, 21(2), 193–215. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.07.001
- Bale, T. L. (2005). Sensitivity to stress: dysregulation of CRF pathways and disease

development. Hormones and Behavior, 48(1), 1—10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.01.009

- Ballabh, P., Braun, A., & Nedergaard, M. (2004). The blood-brain barrier: an overview: Structure, regulation, and clinical implications. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 16(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2003.12.016
- Bangasser, D. A., & Valentino, R. J. (2014). Sex differences in stress-related psychiatric disorders: Neurobiological perspectives. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 35(3), 303–319. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2014.03.008
- Bao, A.-M., & Swaab, D. F. (2019). The human hypothalamus in mood disorders: The HPA axis in the center. IBRO Reports, 6, 45–53. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibror.2018.11.008
- Bazzoni, G., & Dejana, E. (2004). Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions: molecular organization and role in vascular homeostasis. *Physiological Reviews*, 84(3), 869–901. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00035.2003
- Bekhbat, M., & Neigh, G. N. (2018). Sex differences in the neuro-immune consequences of stress: Focus on depression and anxiety. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 67, 1–12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.02.006
- Bekris, S., Antoniou, K., Daskas, S., & Papadopoulou-Daifoti, Z. (2005). Behavioural and neurochemical effects induced by chronic mild stress applied to two different rat strains. Behavioural Brain Research, 161(1), 45–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.01.005
- Benarroch, E. E. (2012). Blood-brain barrier: Recent developments and clinical correlations. *Neurology*, 78(16), 1268–1276. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e318250d8bc
- Bessa, J. M., Ferreira, D., Melo, I., Marques, F., Cerqueira, J. J., Palha, J. A., Almeida, O. F. X., & Sousa, N. (2009). The mood-improving actions of antidepressants do not depend on neurogenesis but are associated with neuronal remodeling. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 14(8), 764–773. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2008.119
- Bexborn, F., Andersson, P. O., Chen, H., Nilsson, B., & Ekdahl, K. N. (2008). The tick-over theory revisited: Formation and regulation of the soluble alternative complement C3 convertase (C3(H2O)Bb). *Molecular Immunology*, 45(8), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2007.11.003
- Bielajew, C., Konkle, A. T. M., Kentner, A. C., Baker, S. L., Stewart, A., Hutchins, A. A., Santa-Maria Barbagallo, L., & Fouriezos, G. (2003). Strain and gender specific effects in the forced swim test: effects of previous stress exposure. Stress (Amsterdam, Netherlands),

6(4), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890310001602829

- Bollinger, J. L., Bergeon Burns, C. M., & Wellman, C. L. (2016). Differential effects of stress on microglial cell activation in male and female medial prefrontal cortex. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 52, 88–97. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.10.003
- Bollinger, J. L., Salinas, I., Fender, E., Sengelaub, D. R., & Wellman, C. L. (2019). Gonadal hormones differentially regulate sex-specific stress effects on glia in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 31(8), e12762. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12762
- Bottaccioli, A. G., Bottaccioli, F., & Minelli, A. (2019). Stress and the psyche-brain-immune network in psychiatric diseases based on psychoneuroendocrineimmunology: a concise review. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1437(1), 31–42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13728
- Brennan, F. H., Anderson, A. J., Taylor, S. M., Woodruff, T. M., & Ruitenberg, M. J. (2012). Complement activation in the injured central nervous system: another dual-edged sword? *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 9(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-137
- Brivio, E., Lopez, J. P., & Chen, A. (2020). Sex differences: Transcriptional signatures of stress exposure in male and female brains. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 19(3), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12643
- Brown, R. C., & Davis, T. P. (2005). Hypoxia/aglycemia alters expression of occludin and actin in brain endothelial cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 327(4), 1114–1123. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.12.123
- Brown, S. M., Henning, S., & Wellman, C. L. (2005). Mild, Short-term Stress Alters Dendritic Morphology in Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(11), 1714–1722. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhi048
- Burrage, E., Marshall, K., Santanam, N., & Chantler, P. (2018). Cerebrovascular dysfunction with stress and depression. *Brain Circulation*, 4(2), 43. https://doi.org/10.4103/bc.bc\_6\_18
- Butt, A. M., Jones, H. C., & Abbott, N. J. (1990). Electrical resistance across the blood-brain barrier in anaesthetized rats: a developmental study. *The Journal of Physiology*, 429, 47–62. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1990.sp018243
- Byers, S. L., Wiles, M. V, Dunn, S. L., & Taft, R. A. (2012). Mouse estrous cycle identification tool and images. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35538. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035538
- Caligioni, C. S. (2009). Assessing reproductive status/stages in mice. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, *Appendix 4*, *Appendix 4*I. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142301.nsa04is48
- Campos-Bedolla, P., Walter, F. R., Veszelka, S., & Deli, M. A. (2014). Role of the blood-brain

barrier in the nutrition of the central nervous system. Archives of Medical Research, 45(8), 610–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.11.018

- Cardoso, F. L., Brites, D., & Brito, M. A. (2010). Looking at the blood-brain barrier: Molecular anatomy and possible investigation approaches. *Brain Research Reviews*, 64(2), 328–363. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.05.003
- Carman, C. V, & Martinelli, R. (2015). T Lymphocyte-Endothelial Interactions: Emerging Understanding of Trafficking and Antigen-Specific Immunity. In *Frontiers in immunology* (Vol. 6, p. 603). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00603
- Carpanini, S. M., Torvell, M., & Morgan, B. P. (2019). Therapeutic Inhibition of the Complement System in Diseases of the Central Nervous System. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00362
- Carvey, P. M., Hendey, B., & Monahan, A. J. (2009). The blood-brain barrier in neurodegenerative disease: a rhetorical perspective. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 111(2), 291–314. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06319.x
- Cayrol, R., Wosik, K., Berard, J. L., Dodelet-Devillers, A., Ifergan, I., Kebir, H., Haqqani, A. S., Kreymborg, K., Krug, S., Moumdjian, R., Bouthillier, A., Becher, B., Arbour, N., David, S., Stanimirovic, D., & Prat, A. (2008). Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nature Immunology*, 9(2), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1551
- Cecchelli, R., Berezowski, V., Lundquist, S., Culot, M., Renftel, M., Dehouck, M.-P., & Fenart,
   L. (2007). Modelling of the blood-brain barrier in drug discovery and development.
   Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 6(8), 650–661. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2368
- Cerqueira, J. J., Almeida, O. F. X., & Sousa, N. (2008). The stressed prefrontal cortex. Left? Right! Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 22(5), 630–638. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2008.01.005
- Cerqueira, J. J., Mailliet, F., Almeida, O. F. X., Jay, T. M., & Sousa, N. (2007). The Prefrontal Cortex as a Key Target of the Maladaptive Response to Stress. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(11), 2781 LP – 2787. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4372-06.2007
- Chen, Y., & Liu, L. (2012). Modern methods for delivery of drugs across the blood-brain barrier. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 64(7), 640-665. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2011.11.010
- Cheng, Y., Desse, S., Martinez, A., Worthen, R. J., Jope, R. S., & Beurel, E. (2018). TNFa

disrupts blood brain barrier integrity to maintain prolonged depressive-like behavior in mice. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 69, 556–567. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.02.003

- Choi, Y. K., & Kim, K.-W. (2008). Blood-neural barrier: its diversity and coordinated cell-tocell communication. *BMB Reports*, 41(5), 345–352. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2008.41.5.345
- Chrousos, G. P. (2009). Stress and disorders of the stress system. *Nature Reviews* Endocrinology, 5(7), 374–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2009.106
- Codeluppi, S. A., Chatterjee, D., Prevot, T. D., Bansal, Y., Misquitta, K. A., Sibille, E., & Banasr,
  M. (2021). Chronic Stress Alters Astrocyte Morphology in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex.
  The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology, 24(10), 842–853.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyab052
- Conrad, C. D. (2010). A critical review of chronic stress effects on spatial learning and memory. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 34(5), 742–755. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.11.003
- Cook, S. C., & Wellman, C. L. (2004). Chronic stress alters dendritic morphology in rat medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 60(2), 236–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.20025
- Crider, A., Feng, T., Pandya, C. D., Davis, T., Nair, A., Ahmed, A. O., Baban, B., Turecki, G., & Pillai, A. (2018). Complement component 3a receptor deficiency attenuates chronic stress-induced monocyte infiltration and depressive-like behavior. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 70, 246–256. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.03.004
- Cristovão, G., Pinto, M. J., Cunha, R. A., Almeida, R. D., & Gomes, C. A. (2014). Activation of microglia bolsters synapse formation. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8, 153. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00153
- Curtis, K. S., Davis, L. M., Johnson, A. L., Therrien, K. L., & Contreras, R. J. (2004). Sex differences in behavioral taste responses to and ingestion of sucrose and NaCl solutions by rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 80(5), 657–664. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2003.11.007
- Czéh, B., Perez-Cruz, C., Fuchs, E., & Flügge, G. (2008). Chronic stress-induced cellular changes in the medial prefrontal cortex and their potential clinical implications: Does hemisphere location matter? *Behavioural Brain Research*, 190(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.02.031

- Dalley, J. W., Cardinal, R. N., & Robbins, T. W. (2004). Prefrontal executive and cognitive functions in rodents: neural and neurochemical substrates. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28(7), 771–784. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.09.006
- Daneman, R., & Prat, A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 7(1), a020412. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- de Kloet, E. R., Joëls, M., & Holsboer, F. (2005). Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6(6), 463–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1683
- de Kloet, E. R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M. S., & Joëls, M. (1998). Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. *Endocrine Reviews*, 19(3), 269–301. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.19.3.0331
- Dion-Albert, L., Cadoret, A., Doney, E., Kaufmann, F. N., Dudek, K. A., Daigle, B., Parise, L.
  F., Cathomas, F., Samba, N., Hudson, N., Lebel, M., Aardema, F., Ait Bentaleb, L.,
  Beauchamp, J., Bendahmane, H., Benoit, E., Bergeron, L., Bertone, A., Bertrand, N., ...
  Consortium, S. (2022). Vascular and blood-brain barrier-related changes underlie stress
  responses and resilience in female mice and depression in human tissue. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 164. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27604-x
- Dore-Duffy, P., Katychev, A., Wang, X., & Van Buren, E. (2006). CNS microvascular pericytes exhibit multipotential stem cell activity. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism : Official Journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 26(5), 613– 624. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600272
- Du Preez, A., Onorato, D., Eiben, I., Musaelyan, K., Egeland, M., Zunszain, P. A., Fernandes, C., Thuret, S., & Pariante, C. M. (2021). Chronic stress followed by social isolation promotes depressive-like behaviour, alters microglial and astrocyte biology and reduces hippocampal neurogenesis in male mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 91, 24–47. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.015
- Dudvarski Stankovic, N., Teodorczyk, M., Ploen, R., Zipp, F., & Schmidt, M. H. H. (2016). Microglia-blood vessel interactions: a double-edged sword in brain pathologies. Acta Neuropathologica, 131(3), 347-363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-015-1524-y
- Dunkelberger, J. R., & Song, W.-C. (2010). Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Research*, 20(1), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2009.139
- Engelhardt, B. (2006). Molecular mechanisms involved in T cell migration across the bloodbrain barrier. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 113(4), 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-005-0409-y

- Everson-Rose, S. A., Roetker, N. S., Lutsey, P. L., Kershaw, K. N., Longstreth, W. T., Sacco, R. L., Diez Roux, A. V., & Alonso, A. (2014). Chronic stress, depressive symptoms, anger, hostility, and risk of stroke and transient ischemic attack in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. Stroke, 45(8), 2318–2323. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.004815
- Fanselow, M. S., & Dong, H.-W. (2010). Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures? Neuron, 65(1), 7–19. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.031
- Feng, T., Tripathi, A., & Pillai, A. (2020). Inflammatory Pathways in Psychiatric Disorders: the Case of Schizophrenia and Depression. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 7(3), 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40473-020-00207-4
- Fisher, M. (2009). Pericyte signaling in the neurovascular unit. Stroke, 40(3 Suppl), S13-5. https://doi.org/10.1161/strokeaha.108.533117
- Franklin, T. B., Saab, B. J., & Mansuy, I. M. (2012). Neural Mechanisms of Stress Resilience and Vulnerability. Neuron, 75(5), 747–761. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.016
- Frisbee, J. C., Brooks, S. D., Stanley, S. C., & d'Audiffret, A. C. (2015). An Unpredictable Chronic Mild Stress Protocol for Instigating Depressive Symptoms, Behavioral Changes and Negative Health Outcomes in Rodents. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, 106, 53109. https://doi.org/10.3791/53109
- Furuse, M., Hirase, T., Itoh, M., Nagafuchi, A., Yonemura, S., Tsukita, S., & Tsukita, S. (1993). Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 123(6 Pt 2), 1777–1788. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.123.6.1777
- Galea, L. A. M., McEwen, B. S., Tanapat, P., Deak, T., Spencer, R. L., & Dhabhar, F. S. (1997).
   Sex differences in dendritic atrophy of CA3 pyramidal neurons in response to chronic restraint stress. *Neuroscience*, 81(3), 689–697.
   https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(97)00233-9
- Garrett, J. E., & Wellman, C. L. (2009). Chronic stress effects on dendritic morphology in medial prefrontal cortex: sex differences and estrogen dependence. *Neuroscience*, 162(1), 195–207. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.04.057
- Gaspar, R., Soares-Cunha, C., Domingues, A. V., Coimbra, B., Baptista, F. I., Pinto, L., Ambrósio, A. F., Rodrigues, A. J., & Gomes, C. A. (2021). Resilience to stress and sexspecific remodeling of microglia and neuronal morphology in a rat model of anxiety and

anhedonia. Neurobiology of Stress, 14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100302

- Gaspar, R., Soares-Cunha, C., Domingues, A. V., Coimbra, B., Baptista, F. I., Pinto, L., Ambrósio, A. F., Rodrigues, A. J., & Gomes, C. A. (2022). The Duration of Stress Determines Sex Specificities in the Vulnerability to Depression and in the Morphologic Remodeling of Neurons and Microglia. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 16(March), 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2022.834821
- Goldwater, D. S., Pavlides, C., Hunter, R. G., Bloss, E. B., Hof, P. R., McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (2009). Structural and functional alterations to rat medial prefrontal cortex following chronic restraint stress and recovery. *Neuroscience*, 164(2), 798–808. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.08.053
- Gonçalves, A., Ambrósio, A. F., & Fernandes, R. (2013). Regulation of claudins in blood-tissue barriers under physiological and pathological states. *Tissue Barriers*, 1(3), e24782. https://doi.org/10.4161/tisb.24782
- Greenwood, J., Heasman, S. J., Alvarez, J. I., Prat, A., Lyck, R., & Engelhardt, B. (2011). Review: leucocyte-endothelial cell crosstalk at the blood-brain barrier: a prerequisite for successful immune cell entry to the brain. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 37(1), 24–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.2010.01140.x
- Hall, B. S., Moda, R. N., & Liston, C. (2015). Glucocorticoid mechanisms of functional connectivity changes in stress-related neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 1, 174–183. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2014.10.008
- Hall, C. N., Reynell, C., Gesslein, B., Hamilton, N. B., Mishra, A., Sutherland, B. A., O'Farrell,
  F. M., Buchan, A. M., Lauritzen, M., & Attwell, D. (2014). Capillary pericytes regulate
  cerebral blood flow in health and disease. *Nature*, 508(7494), 55–60.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13165
- Hammad, A., Westacott, L., & Zaben, M. (2018). The role of the complement system in traumatic brain injury: a review. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 15(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1066-z
- Hartley, T., Lever, C., Burgess, N., & O'Keefe, J. (2014). Space in the brain: how the hippocampal formation supports spatial cognition. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* B: Biological Sciences, 369(1635), 20120510. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0510
- Haseloff, R. F., Dithmer, S., Winkler, L., Wolburg, H., & Blasig, I. E. (2015). Transmembrane proteins of the tight junctions at the blood-brain barrier: Structural and functional

aspects. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 38, 16–25. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.11.004

- Hawkins, B. T., & Davis, T. P. (2005). The blood-brain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 57(2), 173–185. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.57.2.4
- Herman, J. P. (2013). Neural control of chronic stress adaptation. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 7, 61. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00061
- Herman, J. P., Cullinan, W. E., Morano, M. I., Akil, H., & Watson, S. J. (1995). Contribution of the ventral subiculum to inhibitory regulation of the hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical axis. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 7(6), 475–482. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.1995.tb00784.x
- Herman, J. P., McKlveen, J. M., Ghosal, S., Kopp, B., Wulsin, A., Makinson, R., Scheimann, J., & Myers, B. (2016). Regulation of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenocortical Stress Response. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 6(2), 603–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c150015
- Herman, J. P., Ostrander, M. M., Mueller, N. K., & Figueiredo, H. (2005). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: Hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 29(8), 1201–1213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.006
- Herndon, J. M., Tome, M. E., & Davis, T. P. (2017). Chapter 9 Development and Maintenance of the Blood-Brain Barrier (L. R. Caplan, J. Biller, M. C. Leary, E. H. Lo, A. J. Thomas, M. Yenari, & J. H. B. T.-P. on C. D. (Second E. Zhang (eds.); pp. 51–56). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803058-5.00009-6
- Hill, M. N., & Tasker, J. G. (2012). Endocannabinoid signaling, glucocorticoid-mediated negative feedback, and regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Neuroscience*, 204, 5–16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.12.030
- Hill, M. N., Hellemans, K. G. C., Verma, P., Gorzalka, B. B., & Weinberg, J. (2012).
  Neurobiology of chronic mild stress: Parallels to major depression. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(9), 2085–2117.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.07.001
- Hinwood, M., Morandini, J., Day, T. A., & Walker, F. R. (2012). Evidence that Microglia
  Mediate the Neurobiological Effects of Chronic Psychological Stress on the Medial
  Prefrontal Cortex. Cerebral Cortex, 22(6), 1442–1454.

https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr229

- Hinwood, M., Tynan, R. J., Charnley, J. L., Beynon, S. B., Day, T. A., & Walker, F. R. (2013). Chronic stress induced remodeling of the prefrontal cortex: structural re-organization of microglia and the inhibitory effect of minocycline. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.:* 1991), 23(8), 1784–1797. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs151
- Hirase, T., Staddon, J. M., Saitou, M., Ando-Akatsuka, Y., Itoh, M., Furuse, M., Fujimoto, K., Tsukita, S., & Rubin, L. L. (1997). Occludin as a possible determinant of tight junction permeability in endothelial cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 110 (Pt 1, 1603–1613. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.110.14.1603
- Hodes, G. E., & Epperson, C. N. (2019). Sex Differences in Vulnerability and Resilience to
  Stress Across the Life Span. *Biological Psychiatry*, 86(6), 421–432.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.04.028
- Hodes, G. E., Kana, V., Menard, C., Merad, M., & Russo, S. J. (2015). Neuroimmune mechanisms of depression. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(10), 1386–1393. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4113
- Holmes, A., & Wellman, C. L. (2009). Stress-induced prefrontal reorganization and executive dysfunction in rodents. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(6), 773–783. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.11.005
- Hong, S., Beja-Glasser, V. F., Nfonoyim, B. M., Frouin, A., Li, S., Ramakrishnan, S., Merry, K. M., Shi, Q., Rosenthal, A., Barres, B. A., Lemere, C. A., Selkoe, D. J., & Stevens, B. (2016).
  Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. *Science*, 352(6286), 712—716. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8373
- Huang, X., Hussain, B., & Chang, J. (2021). Peripheral inflammation and blood-brain barrier disruption: effects and mechanisms. CNS Neuroscience & amp; Therapeutics, 27(1), 36–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/cns.13569
- Huber, J. D., Egleton, R. D., & Davis, T. P. (2001). Molecular physiology and pathophysiology of tight junctions in the blood-brain barrier. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 24(12), 719–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-2236(00)02004-x
- Huber, J. D., Hau, V. S., Borg, L., Campos, C. R., Egleton, R. D., & Davis, T. P. (2002). Bloodbrain barrier tight junctions are altered during a 72-h exposure to lambda-carrageenaninduced inflammatory pain. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 283(4), H1531-7. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00027.2002

ladecola, C. (2004). Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease.

Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 5(5), 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1387

- Imbe, H., Kimura, A., Donishi, T., & Kaneoke, Y. (2012). Chronic restraint stress decreases glial fibrillary acidic protein and glutamate transporter in the periaqueductal gray matter. *Neuroscience*, 223, 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.08.007
- Izquierdo, A., Wellman, C. L., & Holmes, A. (2006). Brief uncontrollable stress causes dendritic retraction in infralimbic cortex and resistance to fear extinction in mice. The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 26(21), 5733– 5738. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0474-06.2006
- Jacobs, D. S., & Moghaddam, B. (2021). Medial prefrontal cortex encoding of stress and anxiety. In A. T. Brockett, L. M. Amarante, M. Laubach, & M. R. B. T.-I. R. of N. Roesch (Eds.), What does Medial Frontal Cortex Signal During Behavior? Insights from Behavioral Neurophysiology (Vol. 158, pp. 29–55). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2020.11.014
- Jacobson, L., & Sapolsky, R. (1991). The Role of the Hippocampus in Feedback Regulation of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenocortical Axis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 12(2), 118–134. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-12-2-118
- Kadry, H., Noorani, B., & Cucullo, L. (2020). A blood-brain barrier overview on structure, function, impairment, and biomarkers of integrity. *Fluids and Barriers of the CNS*, 17(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12987-020-00230-3
- Kealy, J., Greene, C., & Campbell, M. (2020). Blood-brain barrier regulation in psychiatric disorders. *Neuroscience Letters*, 726, 133664. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.06.033
- Keaney, J., & Campbell, M. (2015). The dynamic blood-brain barrier. *The FEBS Journal*, 282(21), 4067–4079. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13412
- Kemper, C., Atkinson, J. P., & Hourcade, D. E. (2010). Properdin: emerging roles of a patternrecognition molecule. Annual Review of Immunology, 28, 131–155. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101250
- Kim, J. A., Tran, N. D., Li, Z., Yang, F., Zhou, W., & Fisher, M. J. (2006). Brain endothelial hemostasis regulation by pericytes. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism : Official Journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 26(2), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600181

Kim, J. H., Kim, J. H., Park, J. A., Lee, S.-W., Kim, W. J., Yu, Y. S., & Kim, K.-W. (2006). Blood-

neural barrier: intercellular communication at glio-vascular interface. Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 39(4), 339–345. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2006.39.4.339

- Knox, E. G., Aburto, M. R., Clarke, G., Cryan, J. F., & O'Driscoll, C. M. (2022). The bloodbrain barrier in aging and neurodegeneration. *Molecular Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01511-z
- Kokras, N., & Dalla, C. (2017). Preclinical sex differences in depression and antidepressant response: Implications for clinical research. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 95(1–2), 731–736. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23861
- Kokras, N., Hodes, G. E., Bangasser, D. A., & Dalla, C. (2019). Sex differences in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: An obstacle to antidepressant drug development? *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 176(21), 4090–4106. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14710
- Konkle, A. T. M., Baker, S. L., Kentner, A. C., Barbagallo, L. S.-M., Merali, Z., & Bielajew, C. (2003). Evaluation of the effects of chronic mild stressors on hedonic and physiological responses: sex and strain compared. *Brain Research*, 992(2), 227–238. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2003.08.047
- Kott, J. M., Mooney-Leber, S. M., Shoubah, F. A., & Brummelte, S. (2016). Effectiveness of different corticosterone administration methods to elevate corticosterone serum levels, induce depressive-like behavior, and affect neurogenesis levels in female rats. *Neuroscience*, 312, 201–214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.11.006
- Kudielka, B. M., & Kirschbaum, C. (2005). Sex differences in HPA axis responses to stress: a review. *Biological Psychology*, 69(1), 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2004.11.009
- Lackner, P., Hametner, C., Beer, R., Burger, C., Broessner, G., Helbok, R., Speth, C., & Schmutzhard, E. (2008). Complement factors C1q, C3 and C5 in brain and serum of mice with cerebral malaria. *Malaria Journal*, 7, 207. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-7-207
- Langen, U. H., Ayloo, S., & Gu, C. (2019). Development and Cell Biology of the Blood-Brain Barrier. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 35, 591–613. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100617-062608
- Lee, S., Kang, B.-M., Kim, J. H., Min, J., Kim, H. S., Ryu, H., Park, H., Bae, S., Oh, D., Choi, M., & Suh, M. (2018). Real-time in vivo two-photon imaging study reveals decreased cerebro-

vascular volume and increased blood-brain barrier permeability in chronically stressed mice. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 13064. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30875-y

- Liebner, S., Dijkhuizen, R. M., Reiss, Y., Plate, K. H., Agalliu, D., & Constantin, G. (2018). Functional morphology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. Acta Neuropathologica, 135(3), 311-336. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-018-1815-1
- Liston, C., Miller, M. M., Goldwater, D. S., Radley, J. J., Rocher, A. B., Hof, P. R., Morrison, J. H., & McEwen, B. S. (2006). Stress-induced alterations in prefrontal cortical dendritic morphology predict selective impairments in perceptual attentional set-shifting. *The Journal of Neuroscience*: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 26(30), 7870–7874. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1184-06.2006
- Liu, H. H., Payne, H. R., Wang, B., & Brady, S. T. (2006). Gender differences in response of hippocampus to chronic glucocorticoid stress: Role of glutamate receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 83(5), 775–786. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.20782
- Lopez-Vilchez, I., Diaz-Ricart, M., Navarro, V., Torramade, S., Zamorano-Leon, J., Lopez-Farre, A., Galan, A. M., Gasto, C., & Escolar, G. (2016). Endothelial damage in major depression patients is modulated by SSRI treatment, as demonstrated by circulating biomarkers and an in vitro cell model. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(9), e886–e886. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.156
- Lopez, J., & Bagot, R. C. (2021). Defining Valid Chronic Stress Models for Depression With Female Rodents. *Biological Psychiatry*, 90(4), 226–235. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.03.010
- Lu, J., Wu, X.-Y., Zhu, Q.-B., Li, J., Shi, L.-G., Wu, J.-L., Zhang, Q.-J., Huang, M.-L., & Bao, A.M. (2015). Sex differences in the stress response in SD rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 284, 231–237. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.02.009
- Lucassen, P. J., Pruessner, J., Sousa, N., Almeida, O. F. X., Van Dam, A. M., Rajkowska, G., Swaab, D. F., & Czéh, B. (2014). Neuropathology of stress. Acta Neuropathologica, 127(1), 109–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1223-5
- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, 47(6), 707–717. https://doi.org/10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::aid-ana3&gt;3.0.co;2-q
- Luine, V. N., Beck, K. D., Bowman, R. E., Frankfurt, M., & MacLusky, N. J. (2007). Chronic Stress and Neural Function: Accounting for Sex and Age. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*,

19(10), 743-751. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2007.01594.x

- Magariños, A. M., Verdugo, J. M. G., & McEwen, B. S. (1997). Chronic stress alters synaptic terminal structure in hippocampus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 94(25), 14002–14008. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.25.14002
- Marco, E. M., Ballesta, J. A., Irala, C., Hernández, M.-D., Serrano, M. E., Mela, V., López-Gallardo, M., & Viveros, M.-P. (2017). Sex-dependent influence of chronic mild stress (CMS) on voluntary alcohol consumption; study of neurobiological consequences. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 152, 68–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2016.11.005
- Marin, M.-F., Lord, C., Andrews, J., Juster, R.-P., Sindi, S., Arsenault-Lapierre, G., Fiocco, A. J.,
  & Lupien, S. J. (2011). Chronic stress, cognitive functioning and mental health. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 96(4), 583–595. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2011.02.016
- Mastellos, D. C., Reis, E. S., Yancopoulou, D., Hajishengallis, G., Ricklin, D., & Lambris, J. D. (2016). From orphan drugs to adopted therapies: Advancing C3-targeted intervention to the clinical stage. *Immunobiology*, 221(10), 1046–1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2016.06.013
- Mateus-Pinheiro, A., Pinto, L., Bessa, J. M., Morais, M., Alves, N. D., Monteiro, S., Patrício, P., Almeida, O. F. X., & Sousa, N. (2013). Sustained remission from depressive-like behavior depends on hippocampal neurogenesis. *Translational Psychiatry*, 3, e210. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2012.141
- Mathern, D. R., & Heeger, P. S. (2015). Molecules Great and Small: The Complement System. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 10(9), 1636 LP – 1650. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06230614
- McCarthy, K. M., Skare, I. B., Stankewich, M. C., Furuse, M., Tsukita, S., Rogers, R. A., Lynch,
  R. D., & Schneeberger, E. E. (1996). Occludin is a functional component of the tight junction. *Journal of Cell Science*, 109 ( Pt 9, 2287–2298. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.109.9.2287
- McConnell, H. L., Kersch, C. N., Woltjer, R. L., & Neuwelt, E. A. (2017). The Translational Significance of the Neurovascular Unit. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(3), 762– 770. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.r116.760215
- McEwen, B. S. (2017). Neurobiological and Systemic Effects of Chronic Stress. *Chronic Stress*, 1, 2470547017692328. https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547017692328

- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2011). Stress- and Allostasis-Induced Brain Plasticity. Annual Review of Medicine, 62(1), 431–445. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-052209-100430
- McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (2013). The Brain on Stress: Vulnerability and Plasticity of the Prefrontal Cortex over the Life Course. Neuron, 79(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.06.028
- McKinnon, M. C., Yucel, K., Nazarov, A., & MacQueen, G. M. (2009). A meta-analysis examining clinical predictors of hippocampal volume in patients with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 34(1), 41 LP – 54. http://jpn.ca/content/34/1/41.abstract
- McLaughlin, K. J., Baran, S. E., & Conrad, C. D. (2009). Chronic Stress- and Sex-Specific Neuromorphological and Functional Changes in Limbic Structures. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 40(2), 166–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-009-8079-7
- Menard, C., Pfau, M. L., Hodes, G. E., Kana, V., Wang, V. X., Bouchard, S., Takahashi, A., Flanigan, M. E., Aleyasin, H., LeClair, K. B., Janssen, W. G., Labonté, B., Parise, E. M., Lorsch, Z. S., Golden, S. A., Heshmati, M., Tamminga, C., Turecki, G., Campbell, M., ... Russo, S. J. (2017). Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(12), 1752–1760. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-017-0010-3
- Merle, N. S., Church, S. E., Fremeaux-Bacchi, V., & Roumenina, L. T. (2015). Complement System Part I – Molecular Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation. Frontiers in Immunology, 6. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00262
- Michaels, C. C., & Holtzman, S. G. (2007). Enhanced sensitivity to naltrexone-induced drinking suppression of fluid intake and sucrose consumption in maternally separated rats.
   *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 86(4), 784–796.
   https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2007.03.007
- Miracle, A. D., Brace, M. F., Huyck, K. D., Singler, S. A., & Wellman, C. L. (2006). Chronic stress impairs recall of extinction of conditioned fear. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 85(3), 213–218. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2005.10.005
- Moench, K. M., & Wellman, C. L. (2017). Differential dendritic remodeling in prelimbic cortex of male and female rats during recovery from chronic stress. *Neuroscience*, 357, 145– 159. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.05.049
- Mohamed, A. M., Habib, M. Z., Ebeid, M. A., Abdelraouf, S. M., el Faramawy, Y., Aboul-Fotouh, S., & Magdy, Y. (2020). Amisulpride alleviates chronic mild stress-induced cognitive
deficits: Role of prefrontal cortex microglia and Wnt/β-catenin pathway. *European Journal* of *Pharmacology*, 885, 173411. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173411

- Müller, N. (2019). The Role of Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 in the Pathogenesis of Psychiatric Disorders. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 10, 1251. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01251
- Myers, B., McKlveen, J. M., & Herman, J. P. (2012). Neural Regulation of the Stress Response: The Many Faces of Feedback. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 32(5), 683–694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-012-9801-y
- Nagasawa, K., Chiba, H., Fujita, H., Kojima, T., Saito, T., Endo, T., & Sawada, N. (2006). Possible involvement of gap junctions in the barrier function of tight junctions of brain and lung endothelial cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 208(1), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20647
- Najjar, S., Pearlman, D. M., Alper, K., Najjar, A., & Devinsky, O. (2013). Neuroinflammation and psychiatric illness. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10, 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-43
- Navarro, P., Ruco, L., & Dejana, E. (1998). Differential localization of VE- and N-cadherins in human endothelial cells: VE-cadherin competes with N-cadherin for junctional localization. The Journal of Cell Biology, 140(6), 1475–1484. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.140.6.1475
- Nayak, A., Ferluga, J., Tsolaki, A. G., & Kishore, U. (2010). The non-classical functions of the classical complement pathway recognition subcomponent C1q. *Immunology Letters*, 131(2), 139–150. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2010.03.012
- Nitta, T., Hata, M., Gotoh, S., Seo, Y., Sasaki, H., Hashimoto, N., Furuse, M., & Tsukita, S. (2003). Size-selective loosening of the blood-brain barrier in claudin-5-deficient mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *161*(3), 653–660. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200302070
- Nollet, M., Guisquet, A.-M. Le, & Belzung, C. (2013). Models of Depression: Unpredictable Chronic Mild Stress in Mice. *Current Protocols in Pharmacology*, 61(1), 5.65.1-5.65.17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/0471141755.ph0565s61
- Northrop, N. A., & Yamamoto, B. K. (2012). Persistent neuroinflammatory effects of serial exposure to stress and methamphetamine on the blood-brain barrier. Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology: The Official Journal of the Society on NeuroImmune Pharmacology, 7(4), 951–968. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-012-9391-y

- Obermeier, B., Daneman, R., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2013). Development, maintenance and disruption of the blood-brain barrier. *Nature Medicine*, 19(12), 1584–1596. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3407
- Obermeier, B., Verma, A., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2016). Chapter 3 The blood-brain barrier. In S. J. Pittock & A. B. T.-H. of C. N. Vincent (Eds.), *Autoimmune Neurology* (Vol. 133, pp. 39–59). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63432-0.00003-7
- Organization, W. H. (2017). Depression and other common mental disorders: Global health estimates. World Health Organization.
- Oyola, M. G., & Handa, R. J. (2017). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axes: sex differences in regulation of stress responsivity. Stress (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 20(5), 476–494. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890.2017.1369523
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino, D., & Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science*, 333(6048), 1456–1458. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1202529
- Pardridge, W. M. (1999). Blood-brain barrier biology and methodology. Journal of Neurovirology, 5(6), 556–569. https://doi.org/10.3109/13550289909021285
- Pardridge, W. M. (2003). Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development. *Molecular Interventions*, 3(2), 51,90-105. https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.3.2.90
- Pariante, C. M., & Lightman, S. L. (2008). The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 31(9), 464–468. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2008.06.006
- Patrício, P., Mateus-Pinheiro, A., Irmler, M., Alves, N. D., Machado-Santos, A. R., Morais, M., Correia, J. S., Korostynski, M., Piechota, M., Stoffel, R., Beckers, J., Bessa, J. M., Almeida, O. F. X., Sousa, N., & Pinto, L. (2015). Differential and Converging Molecular Mechanisms of Antidepressants' Action in the Hippocampal Dentate Gyrus. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(2), 338–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.176
- Pavlides, C., Nivón, L. G., & McEwen, B. S. (2002). Effects of chronic stress on hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Hippocampus*, *12*(2), 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.1116
- Pêgo, J. M., Sousa, J. C., Almeida, O. F. X., & Sousa, N. (2010). Stress and the neuroendocrinology of anxiety disorders. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, 2,

97—117. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2009\_13

- Perdrizet, G. A. (1997). Hans Selye and beyond: responses to stress. *Cell Stress & Chaperones*, 2(4), 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(1997)002<0214:hsabrt>2.3.co;2
- Persidsky, Y., Ramirez, S. H., Haorah, J., & Kanmogne, G. D. (2006). Blood-brain barrier: structural components and function under physiologic and pathologic conditions. *Journal* of Neuroimmune Pharmacology: The Official Journal of the Society on NeuroImmune Pharmacology, 1(3), 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-006-9025-3
- Petty, M. A., & Lo, E. H. (2002). Junctional complexes of the blood-brain barrier: permeability changes in neuroinflammation. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 68(5), 311–323. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(02)00128-4
- Pinto, V., Costa, J. C., Morgado, P., Mota, C., Miranda, A., Bravo, F. V, Oliveira, T. G., Cerqueira, J. J., & Sousa, N. (2015). Differential impact of chronic stress along the hippocampal dorsal-ventral axis. *Brain Structure and Function*, 220(2), 1205–1212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0713-0
- Pittenger, C., & Duman, R. S. (2008). Stress, Depression, and Neuroplasticity: A Convergence of Mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(1), 88–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301574
- Radley, J. J., & Morrison, J. H. (2005). Repeated stress and structural plasticity in the brain. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 4(2), 271–287. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2005.03.004
- Radley, J. J., Sisti, H. M., Hao, J., Rocher, A. B., McCall, T., Hof, P. R., McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (2004). Chronic behavioral stress induces apical dendritic reorganization in pyramidal neurons of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience*, 125(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.01.006
- Radley, J., Morilak, D., Viau, V., & Campeau, S. (2015). Chronic stress and brain plasticity: Mechanisms underlying adaptive and maladaptive changes and implications for stressrelated CNS disorders. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 58, 79–91. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.018
- Rao, R., & Androulakis, I. P. (2019). The physiological significance of the circadian dynamics of the HPA axis: Interplay between circadian rhythms, allostasis and stress resilience. *Hormones and Behavior*, *110*, 77–89. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2019.02.018

Reul, J. M., & de Kloet, E. R. (1985). Two Receptor Systems for Corticosterone in Rat Brain:

Microdistribution and Differential Occupation. *Endocrinology*, 117(6), 2505–2511. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-117-6-2505

- Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., & Lambris, J. D. (2010). Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Nature Immunology*, 11(9), 785–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1923
- Riihilä, P., Nissinen, L., Knuutila, J., Rahmati Nezhad, P., Viiklepp, K., & Kähäri, V.-M. (2019). Complement System in Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(14), E3550. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20143550
- Ronaldson, P. T., & Davis, T. P. (2020). Regulation of blood-brain barrier integrity by microglia in health and disease: A therapeutic opportunity. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism : Official Journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 40(1\_suppl), S6–S24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678x20951995
- Rosenberg, G. A. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinases in neuroinflammation. *Glia*, 39(3), 279–291. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10108
- Rossi, B., Angiari, S., Zenaro, E., Budui, S. L., & Constantin, G. (2011). Vascular inflammation in central nervous system diseases: adhesion receptors controlling leukocyte-endothelial interactions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 89(4), 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0710432
- Roszkowski, M., & Bohacek, J. (2016). Stress does not increase blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism: Official Journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 36(7), 1304–1315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678x16647739
- Russo, M. V, & McGavern, D. B. (2015). Immune Surveillance of the CNS following Infection and Injury. *Trends in Immunology*, 36(10), 637–650. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2015.08.002
- Sá-Pereira, I., Brites, D., & Brito, M. A. (2012). Neurovascular unit: a focus on pericytes. Molecular Neurobiology, 45(2), 327–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-012-8244-2
- Saavedra, L. M., Hernández-Velázquez, M. G., Madrigal, S., Ochoa-Zarzosa, A., & Torner, L. (2021). Long-term activation of hippocampal glial cells and altered emotional behavior in male and female adult rats after different neonatal stressors. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 126, 105164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2021.105164
- Saitou, M., Furuse, M., Sasaki, H., Schulzke, J. D., Fromm, M., Takano, H., Noda, T., & Tsukita, S. (2000). Complex phenotype of mice lacking occludin, a component of tight junction

strands. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 11(12), 4131-4142. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.11.12.4131

- Sanacora, G., Yan, Z., & Popoli, M. (2022). The stressed synapse 2.0: pathophysiological mechanisms in stress-related neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 23(2), 86–103. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-021-00540-x
- Sántha, P., Veszelka, S., Hoyk, Z., Mészáros, M., Walter, F. R., Tóth, A. E., Kiss, L., Kincses, A., Oláh, Z., Seprényi, G., Rákhely, G., Dér, A., Pákáski, M., Kálmán, J., Kittel, Á., & Deli, M. A. (2015). Restraint Stress-Induced Morphological Changes at the Blood-Brain Barrier in Adult Rats. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 8, 88. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2015.00088
- Sapolsky, R. M. (1992). Stress, the aging brain, and the mechanisms of neuron death. In Stress, the aging brain, and the mechanisms of neuron death. The MIT Press.
- Sapolsky, R. M., Romero, L. M., & Munck, A. U. (2000). How Do Glucocorticoids Influence Stress Responses? Integrating Permissive, Suppressive, Stimulatory, and Preparative Actions<sup>\*</sup>. Endocrine Reviews, 21(1), 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.21.1.0389
- Sarma, J. V., & Ward, P. A. (2011). The complement system. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 343(1), 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-010-1034-0
- Sawicki, C. M., McKim, D. B., Wohleb, E. S., Jarrett, B. L., Reader, B. F., Norden, D. M., Godbout, J. P., & Sheridan, J. F. (2015). Social defeat promotes a reactive endothelium in a brain region-dependent manner with increased expression of key adhesion molecules, selectins and chemokines associated with the recruitment of myeloid cells to the brain. *Neuroscience*, 302, 151–164.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.10.004

- Schoenfeld, T. J., McCausland, H. C., Morris, H. D., Padmanaban, V., & Cameron, H. A. (2017).
   Stress and Loss of Adult Neurogenesis Differentially Reduce Hippocampal Volume.
   *Biological Psychiatry*, 82(12), 914–923.
   https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.05.013
- Selye, H. (1936). A Syndrome produced by Diverse Nocuous Agents. *Nature*, 138(3479), 32. https://doi.org/10.1038/138032a0
- Seney, M. L., & Sibille, E. (2014). Sex differences in mood disorders: perspectives from humans and rodent models. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 5(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-014-0017-3
- Serlin, Y., Shelef, I., Knyazer, B., & Friedman, A. (2015). Anatomy and physiology of the blood-

brain barrier. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 38, 2–6. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.01.002

- Sharma, H. S., & Sharma, A. (2010). Breakdown of the Blood-Brain Barrier in Stress Alters Cognitive Dysfunction and Induces Brain Pathology: New Perspectives for Neuroprotective Strategies BT
  Brain Protection in Schizophrenia, Mood and Cognitive Disorders (M. S. Ritsner (ed.); pp. 243–303). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-8553-5
- Shors, T. J., & Dryver, E. (1994). Effects of stress and long-term potentiation (LTP) on subsequent LTP and the theta burst response in the dentate gyrus. *Brain Research*, 666(2), 232–238. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(94)90777-3
- Smith, S. M., & Vale, W. W. (2006). The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 8(4), 383–395. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2006.8.4/ssmith
- Sørensen, R., Thiel, S., & Jensenius, J. C. (2005). Mannan-binding-lectin-associated serine proteases, characteristics and disease associations. Springer Seminars in Immunopathology, 27(3), 299–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-005-0006-z
- Sousa, N. (2016). The dynamics of the stress neuromatrix. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 21(3), 302–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.196
- Sousa, N., & Almeida, O. F. X. (2012). Disconnection and reconnection: the morphological basis of (mal)adaptation to stress. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(12), 742–751. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2012.08.006
- Sousa, N., Cerqueira, J. J., & Almeida, O. F. X. (2008). Corticosteroid receptors and neuroplasticity. Brain Research Reviews, 57(2), 561–570. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.06.007
- Sousa, N., Lukoyanov, N. V, Madeira, M. D., Almeida, O. F. X., & Paula-Barbosa, M. M. (2000). Reorganization of the morphology of hippocampal neurites and synapses after stressinduced damage correlates with behavioral improvement. *Neuroscience*, 97(2), 253–266. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00050-6
- Spiga, F., Walker, J. J., Terry, J. R., & Lightman, S. L. (2014). HPA Axis-Rhythms. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 1273–1298. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c140003
- Stamatovic, S. M., Keep, R. F., & Andjelkovic, A. V. (2008). Brain endothelial cell-cell junctions: how to "open" the blood brain barrier. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 6(3), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015908785777210
- Stephan, A. H., Barres, B. A., & Stevens, B. (2012). The Complement System: An Unexpected

Role in Synaptic Pruning During Development and Disease. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 35(1), 369–389. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113810

- Stewart, M. G., Davies, H. A., Sandi, C., Kraev, I. V, Rogachevsky, V. V, Peddie, C. J., Rodriguez, J. J., Cordero, M. I., Donohue, H. S., Gabbott, P. L. A., & Popov, V. I. (2005). Stress suppresses and learning induces plasticity in CA3 of rat hippocampus: A three-dimensional ultrastructural study of thorny excrescences and their postsynaptic densities. *Neuroscience*, *131*(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.10.031
- Strange, B. A., Witter, M. P., Lein, E. S., & Moser, E. I. (2014). Functional organization of the hippocampal longitudinal axis. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 15(10), 655–669. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3785
- Szabo, S., Tache, Y., & Somogyi, A. (2012). The legacy of Hans Selye and the origins of stress research: a retrospective 75 years after his landmark brief "letter" to the editor# of nature. Stress (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 15(5), 472-478. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2012.710919
- Szabo, S., Yoshida, M., Filakovszky, J., & Juhasz, G. (2017). "Stress" is 80 Years Old: From Hans Selye Original Paper in 1936 to Recent Advances in GI Ulceration. *Current Pharmaceutical* Design, 23(27), 4029–4041. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612823666170622110046
- Takeshita, Y., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2012). Inflammatory cell trafficking across the blood-brain barrier: chemokine regulation and in vitro models. *Immunological Reviews*, 248(1), 228– 239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065x.2012.01127.x
- Tay, T. L., Savage, J. C., Hui, C. W., Bisht, K., & Tremblay, M. È. (2017). Microglia across the lifespan: from origin to function in brain development, plasticity and cognition. *Journal of Physiology*, *595*(6), 1929–1945. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP272134
- Thurgur, H., & Pinteaux, E. (2019). Microglia in the Neurovascular Unit: Blood–Brain Barrier– microglia Interactions After Central Nervous System Disorders. *Neuroscience*, 405, 55– 67. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.06.046
- Tietz, S., & Engelhardt, B. (2015). Brain barriers: Crosstalk between complex tight junctions and adherens junctions. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 209(4), 493–506. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201412147
- Tripathi, A., Whitehead, C., Surrao, K., Pillai, A., Madeshiya, A., Li, Y., Khodadadi, H., Ahmed, A. O., Turecki, G., Baban, B., & Pillai, A. (2021). Type I interferon mediates chronic

stress-induced neuroinflammation and behavioral deficits via complement component 3dependent pathway. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 26(7), 3043–3059. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01065-6

- Tsukita, S., Tanaka, H., & Tamura, A. (2019). The Claudins: From Tight Junctions to Biological Systems. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 44(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2018.09.008
- Tynan, R. J., Beynon, S. B., Hinwood, M., Johnson, S. J., Nilsson, M., Woods, J. J., & Walker, F. R. (2013). Chronic stress-induced disruption of the astrocyte network is driven by structural atrophy and not loss of astrocytes. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 126(1), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1102-0
- Tynan, R. J., Naicker, S., Hinwood, M., Nalivaiko, E., Buller, K. M., Pow, D. V, Day, T. A., & Walker, F. R. (2010). Chronic stress alters the density and morphology of microglia in a subset of stress-responsive brain regions. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 24(7), 1058– 1068. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.02.001
- van Agtmaal, M. J. M., Houben, A. J. H. M., Pouwer, F., Stehouwer, C. D. A., & Schram, M. T. (2017). Association of Microvascular Dysfunction With Late-Life Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry, 74(7), 729–739. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0984
- Veerhuis, R., Nielsen, H. M., & Tenner, A. J. (2011). Complement in the brain. *Molecular Immunology*, 48(14), 1592–1603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2011.04.003
- Videbech, P., & Ravnkilde, B. (2004). Hippocampal Volume and Depression: A Meta-Analysis of MRI Studies. American Journal of Psychiatry, 161(11), 1957–1966. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.11.1957
- Vincent, P. A., Xiao, K., Buckley, K. M., & Kowalczyk, A. P. (2004). VE-cadherin: adhesion at arm's length. American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology, 286(5), C987-97. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00522.2003
- Vorbrodt, A. W., & Dobrogowska, D. H. (2003). Molecular anatomy of intercellular junctions in brain endothelial and epithelial barriers: electron microscopist's view. Brain Research. Brain Research Reviews, 42(3), 221–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0173(03)00177-2
- Vorbrodt, A. W., Li, S., Brown, W. T., & Ramakrishna, N. (2008). Increased expression of βcatenin in brain microvessels of a segmentally trisomic (Ts65Dn) mouse model of Down syndrome. *Brain Cell Biology*, *36*(5), 203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11068-008-9038-3

Vyas, S., Rodrigues, A. J., Silva, J. M., Tronche, F., Almeida, O. F. X., Sousa, N., & Sotiropoulos,

I. (2016). Chronic Stress and Glucocorticoids: From Neuronal Plasticity to Neurodegeneration. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016, 6391686. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6391686

- Walker, F. R., Nilsson, M., & Jones, K. (2013). Acute and chronic stress-induced disturbances of microglial plasticity, phenotype and function. *Current Drug Targets*, 14(11), 1262–1276. https://doi.org/10.2174/13894501113149990208
- Walker, W. H., Walton, J. C., DeVries, A. C., & Nelson, R. J. (2020). Circadian rhythm disruption and mental health. *Translational Psychiatry*, 10(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0694-0
- Wang, Y.-L., Han, Q.-Q., Gong, W.-Q., Pan, D.-H., Wang, L.-Z., Hu, W., Yang, M., Li, B., Yu, J., & Liu, Q. (2018). Microglial activation mediates chronic mild stress-induced depressive- and anxiety-like behavior in adult rats. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 15(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1054-3
- Wang, Y., Zhang, H., & He, Y.-W. (2019). The Complement Receptors C3aR and C5aR Are a New Class of Immune Checkpoint Receptor in Cancer Immunotherapy. Frontiers in Immunology, 10, 1574. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01574
- Watanabe, Y., Gould, E., & McEwen, B. S. (1992). Stress induces atrophy of apical dendrites of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. *Brain Research*, 588(2), 341–345. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)91597-8
- Wei, J., Yuen, E. Y., Liu, W., Li, X., Zhong, P., Karatsoreos, I. N., McEwen, B. S., & Yan, Z. (2014). Estrogen protects against the detrimental effects of repeated stress on glutamatergic transmission and cognition. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 19(5), 588–598. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.83
- Weinstock, M. (2008). The long-term behavioural consequences of prenatal stress. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(6), 1073–1086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.03.002
- Welcome, M. O., & Mastorakis, N. E. (2020). Stress-induced blood brain barrier disruption: Molecular mechanisms and signaling pathways. *Pharmacological Research*, 157, 104769. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104769
- Wellman, C. L., Bangasser, D. A., Bollinger, J. L., Coutellier, L., Logrip, M. L., Moench, K. M., & Urban, K. R. (2018). Sex Differences in Risk and Resilience: Stress Effects on the Neural Substrates of Emotion and Motivation. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 38(44), 9423–9432.

https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1673-18.2018

- Wellman, C. L., Bollinger, J. L., & Moench, K. M. (2020). Effects of stress on the structure and function of the medial prefrontal cortex: Insights from animal models. In A. Clow & N. B. T.-I. R. of N. Smyth (Eds.), Stress and Brain Health: Across the Life Course (Vol. 150, pp. 129–153). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2019.11.007
- Westfall, S., Caracci, F., Estill, M., Frolinger, T., Shen, L., & Pasinetti, G. M. (2021). Chronic Stress-Induced Depression and Anxiety Priming Modulated by Gut-Brain-Axis Immunity. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 670500. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.670500
- Westwood, F. R. (2008). The Female Rat Reproductive Cycle: A Practical Histological Guide to Staging. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 36(3), 375–384. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623308315665
- Wilhelm, I., Fazakas, C., & Krizbai, I. A. (2011). In vitro models of the blood-brain barrier. Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis, 71(1), 113–128. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/21499332
- Willner, P. (2005). Chronic mild stress (CMS) revisited: Consistency and behaviouralneurobiological concordance in the effects of CMS. *Neuropsychobiology*, 52(2), 90–110. https://doi.org/10.1159/000087097
- Willner, P. (2017). The chronic mild stress (CMS) model of depression: History, evaluation and usage. Neurobiology of Stress, 6, 78–93. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.08.002
- Willner, P., Towell, A., Sampson, D., Sophokleous, S., & Muscat, R. (1987). Reduction of sucrose preference by chronic unpredictable mild stress, and its restoration by a tricyclic antidepressant. *Psychopharmacology*, 93(3), 358–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00187257
- Willner, P., Scheel-Krüger, J., & Belzung, C. (2013). The neurobiology of depression and antidepressant action. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(10, Part 1), 2331–2371. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.12.007
- Wolburg, H., & Lippoldt, A. (2002). Tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier: development, composition and regulation. Vascular Pharmacology, 38(6), 323–337. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1537-1891(02)00200-8
- Wolburg, H., Wolburg-Buchholz, K., Kraus, J., Rascher-Eggstein, G., Liebner, S., Hamm, S., Duffner, F., Grote, E.-H., Risau, W., & Engelhardt, B. (2003). Localization of claudin-3 in tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier is selectively lost during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and human glioblastoma multiforme. *Acta*

Neuropathologica, 105(6), 586–592. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-003-0688-z

- Woo, E., Sansing, L. H., Arnsten, A. F. T., & Datta, D. (2021). Chronic Stress Weakens Connectivity in the Prefrontal Cortex: Architectural and Molecular Changes. *Chronic Stress* (*Thousand Oaks, Calif.*), 5, 24705470211029256. https://doi.org/10.1177/24705470211029254
- Word Health Organization: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mentaldisorders
- Wu, F., Zou, Q., Ding, X., Shi, D., Zhu, X., Hu, W., Liu, L., & Zhou, H. (2016). Complement component C3a plays a critical role in endothelial activation and leukocyte recruitment into the brain. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 13(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-016-0485-y
- Xing, Y., He, J., Hou, J., Lin, F., Tian, J., & Kurihara, H. (2013). Gender differences in CMS and the effects of antidepressant venlafaxine in rats. *Neurochemistry International*, 63(6), 570– 575. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2013.09.019
- Xu, G., Li, Y., Ma, C., Wang, C., Sun, Z., Shen, Y., Liu, L., Li, S., Zhang, X., & Cong, B. (2019).
   Restraint Stress Induced Hyperpermeability and Damage of the Blood-Brain Barrier in the Amygdala of Adult Rats. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 12, 32. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2019.00032
- Yuen, E. Y., Wei, J., Liu, W., Zhong, P., Li, X., & Yan, Z. (2012). Repeated Stress Causes Cognitive Impairment by Suppressing Glutamate Receptor Expression and Function in Prefrontal Cortex. *Neuron*, 73(5), 962–977. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.12.033
- Zhu, H., Yu, X., Zhang, S., & Shu, K. (2021). Targeting the Complement Pathway in Malignant Glioma Microenvironments. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 657472. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.657472
- Zhu, S., Shi, R., Wang, J., Wang, J.-F., & Li, X.-M. (2014). Unpredictable chronic mild stress not chronic restraint stress induces depressive behaviours in mice. In *Neuroreport* (Vol. 25, Issue 14, pp. 1151–1155). https://doi.org/10.1097/wnr.0000000000243
- Zlokovic, B. V. (2008). The Blood-Brain Barrier in Health and Chronic Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Neuron*, 57(2), 178–201. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.01.003